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BELIEVING IN YOU

This summary of our 25 years is just a fragment of the rich history that 
Banco Regional is building in its path. It is an approximation to the past that 
drove us and an inspiration that projects us through time. 

Dreams, desires and challenges that were becoming true with time, 
changing lives and realities towards a better future

25 years believing in you4 2015 Report and Financial Statements 5



725 Years believing in you 2015 Report and Financial Statements6

In the city of Encarnación, in 1991, visionaries and successful 
businessmen from productive sectors, driven by the limitations to 
access adequate credit products for their needs, join efforts to create 
the first Bank with its Headquarters outside of the capital of the 
country. 

So, Encarnación became the first center of banking operations focused 
in agribusiness, supporting the development and strengthening of 
producers in the region. 

In these 25 years of record, Banco Regional has left its footprint in the 
history of the country, highlighting several milestones, from the addition 
of a foreign partner to its shareholding portfolio and the purchase of 
the branch of an international bank, to the active participation in the 
formation of the sector’s Sustainable Finances Desk, aimed at the 
application of resources granted to enterprises that do not have a 
negative impact in society nor the environment. 

Making a summary of this period takes us to the starting point for 
Regional, which opened its doors under the presidency of Carlos 
Memmel on May 3, 1991. 

« Visionaries and successful businessmen from 
productive sectors created the first bank with 

Headquarters in Encarnación »

Evolution of the Logo

1991

2000

2014

Additionally, through these years and as a result 
of teamwork, sources of funding from Multilateral 
Development Organizations are now available. These 
get to thousands of Paraguayan entrepreneurs who 
are now included in the formal financial system 
through its international network of prestigious 
correspondents, in dollars like Citibank, Wells Fargo, 
Bank of America, Societe Generale and Deutsche 
Bank, and euros like Rabobank (Holland), La Caixa 
(Spain) and Commerzbank (Germany) and even direct 
correspondents in Asian banking in Bank of China. 

We celebrate this anniversary proud of being part 
of a growing Paraguay that is projecting a better 
future, with opportunities for all, funding sustainable 
businesses. 

Thank you for believing in us… We believe in you! 

The technological advances were soon a priority to 
compete in the market, as well as the expansion in 
the national territory. Today, there are 37 customer 
service points seeking to satisfy more than 100 
thousand customers, which also have access to all 
services in multiple platforms 24 hours a day, 365 
days a year. 

However, to get to this state of evolution, the 
directors of the Bank also had to provide for the 
training of local professionals (in Encarnación 
and the other locals), as well as providers for the 
technical and logistic requirements related to the 
trade: I.T. and networks, courier, security transport, 
maintenance, billboards, among others. 

The sense of belonging is a key aspect in the 
management of the human resources of the Bank, 
as almost 700 collaborators are internal clients in 
a direct manner. The efficient work of the Regional 
team made it deserving of recognition from 
prestigious international risk rating companies. An 
example of this is the designation of Banco Regional 
as Best Paraguayan Bank by the Euromoney 
magazine for two consecutive years. 
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• Visionary businessmen from 
the city of Encarnación decide 
to join efforts to create a Bank 
in their city. 

• Banco Regional opens its doors 
to the public, becoming the first 
Bank with its Headquarters in 
Encarnación, Itapúa. 

• The first branch of the bank 
is opened in the heart of the 
productive region of the country. 

• The institutional image is 
modernized and a strategic plan 
for the geographical expansion in 
the country is implemented. 

• A process of innovation in I.T. 
platforms is started. 

• The first 
website of 
the Bank is 
launched. 

• Rabobank from Holland joins as 
shareholder with 40% of the shares.
 
• Banco Regional S.A. becomes 
Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. and the 
largest issue of shares in the local 
stock exchange is made. 

• A branch aimed exclusively at 
Private Banking clients is opened. 

• The Bank gets access to the Global 
Trade Finance Program from the 
International Finance Corporation 
(IFC) and the Inter-American 
Development Bank (IADB). 
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• Banco Regional 
acquires 100% of ABN 
AMRO Paraguay. 

• Risk Rating Company 
Feller Rate grants Banco 
Regional the “A+” rating in 
Solvency Ratio. 

• Feller Rate confirms the 
“AA-py” solvency rating of 
Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. 
The trend is “Stable”. 

• The 20 years from the 
foundation are celebrated 
coinciding with the 
Bicentenary of the Republic 
of Paraguay. 

• Banco Regional receives the 
“Best Bank of Paraguay” Award, 
granted by the Euromoney 
magazine. 

• Banco Regional is a founding member 
of the Sustainable Finances Desk of 
Paraguay with the purpose of promoting the 
development of best environmental and social 
practices in the banking sector. 

• For the second consecutive year, Banco 
Regional receives the “Best Bank of 
Paraguay” Award, granted by the Euromoney 
magazine. 

• Incursion of Banco Regional in social 
networks as a customer service channel and 
medium of communication. 

• Cards with the “Europay Mastercard Visa” 
technology (chip) are launched. 

• Banco Regional signs 
agreements with Multilateral 
Organizations: the Inter-
American Development 
Bank (IADB); FMO – Holland 
(Entrepreneurial Development 
Bank), including funding from 
organizations from Belgium 
– BIO (Belgian Investment 
Company) and OFID (OPEC Fund 
for International Development). 

• The new Regional Web for 
individuals is launched. 

20
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• The app for multi-channel 
platforms is launched. 

• The issue of the first bonds 
portfolio abroad is made, for 
US$ 300 million, a milestone in 
the history of the Bank and the 
country. 

• The Bank transforms its 
corporate image as part of its new 
business strategy. 

• International Risk Rating 
Company Standard and Poor’s 
grants Banco Regional the 
“BB-Stable Trend” rating and 
Moody’s grants Banco Regional 
the “Ba2 Stable Trend” rating.
 
• Banco Regional consolidates 
its international network with 
prestigious correspondents 
in dollars: Citibank, Wells 
Fargo, Bank of America, 
Societe Generale and Deutsche 
Bank, as well as renowned 
correspondents in euros: 
Rabobank (Holland), La 
Caixa (Spain), Commerzbank 
(Germany) and even direct 
correspondents in Asian 
banking with Bank of China. 

20
14

20
14

• Regional is one of the 
systemic financial entities 
in Paraguay and the leader 
in Agribusiness. 

• Ratings from Moodys 
Ba2, and Standard & 
Poor’s BB-, both with 
stable trends. 
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Dear Shareholders, 

We have witnessed a 2015 with many challenges: significantly lower 
agricultural prices that defined a complex situation for agribusiness, 
the important depreciation of the exchange rate, higher demands 
of credit refunding, the commercial deceleration and a regional 
environment characterized by the economic and political crisis of Brazil 
and the opportunity for economic recovery of Argentina. 

Likewise, the international environment has added factors for the 
vulnerability of our economy, with a slow economic recovery in the 
United States and Europe, less dynamism in the Chinese economy and 
the continuous drop of the international prices of oil that negatively 
affect the performance of the prices of agricultural commodities. 

Even in this difficult scenario, our Bank has ended the year with a 
performance that we deem to be very satisfactory: net revenue has 
grown 57%, the default rate of 2.37% has been lower than the market 
average, we have strengthened our balance sheet with allowances that 
represent 122% of the past-due portfolio, we increased the proportion 
of collaterals of our loan portfolio to 52%, we obtained an efficiency 
ratio that is even better than the average of the banking sector 
with 47%, and have assisted our agricultural productive sector with 
extensive refunding and restructuring, exclusively with our liquidity and 
our capital. 

In this context, the main risk rating companies have ratified our ratings 
(Moody’s, Standard and Poor’s and Feller) with stable perspectives, 
and our bonds issued in the international markets had the best 
performance among the Paraguayan corporate bonds. 

We are proud of the support of our shareholders, of our strategic 
allies abroad, and the effort of the management team and employees 
that have consolidated our leadership in the agribusiness sector, 
revalidating our conviction of being a financial ally for our clients, even 
in difficult economic situations. 

In fact, the adverse and volatile regional and international context has 
influenced not just exchange depreciation, but also a deceleration 
of domestic consumption and the rhythm of credit growth, creating 
vulnerability to maintain the quality of the loan portfolio of the system. 

Raúl Vera Bogado

Education
• Master in Political Economic 
Sciences, University of Illinois, Urbana 
Champaign
•  Economist, National University of 
Asunción
• Specializations in currency and 
financial policies, economics and 
international finances

Professional Background
• General Manager of Banco Regional
• President of the Central Bank of 
Paraguay
• Minister of Industry and Trade
• Ambassador to the Kingdoms of 
Belgium and The Netherlands, The 
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, and 
European Communities
• Chief Economist of the Central Bank 
of Paraguay
• Deputy Director in the Vice-
Presidency for Latin America and the 
Caribbean of Louis Berger Group Inc. 
• Consultant for the United Nations 
Development Program (UNDP), and 
the Inter-American Development 
Bank.

MESSAGE FROM 
THE PRESIDENT

These aspects are reflected in the financial system and our Bank has taken measures to minimize their 
effects. This situation defines the need to face a prudent management and with conservative growth goals, 
where profitability, the quality of the credit portfolio, the continuous improvement of operating efficiency and 
adequate levels of capital, constitute priority objectives for our management in 2016. 

As part of the actions of the Strategic Plan, we continue to implement improvements in processes and 
products in line with our objectives of “Universal Banking”: we modernized several products and services, 
including Payment to Providers services, automatic loans through ATMs, we redesigned and strengthened 
our HomeBanking, offering an easiness of transactions to satisfy the requirements of corporate clients and 
personal banking. In addition, in 2015, we increased the number of clients again and concluded the year with 
more than 104 thousand active clients. 

In 2016, we will mark a new milestone in our history with our 25th Anniversary. This occasion is a good 
opportunity to remember with all of you, our shareholders, our allies, executives and employees, the road 
travelled so far, and when seeing our achievements with gratitude, we find in your confidence the essential 
foundations to keep driving our big dream with Banco Regional, with the dedication of all of the people that 
are part of this big family. 

We see a complex economic situation, but we face it with confidence, driven by our shareholders, with our 
commitment to try to exceed the expected results and the superior interest to have our Bank recognized as 
an important player for the economic development of our country. 

On behalf of my colleagues in the Board, the General Manager, the Managers, and every member of our 
distinguished institution, I am thankful for your constant support to keep achieving goals that make us a 
leading, competitive, profitable and solvent banking institution. 

Happy 25th Anniversary! 

Raúl Vera Bogado
Executive President of the Board

25 YEARS OF HISTORY
(UNFOLD TO VIEW)

10 25 años creyendo en vos
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01 
PRESENTATION 
OF THE REPORT

We are providing a new edition of the Report and Financial Statements 
of the year that shows the management of businesses. In addition to this 
presentation, we seek to make its content reflective of the human side of 
the Bank, the work with our collaborators, clients and society that allows 
us to keep developing. 

25 years believing in you12 2015 Report and Financial Statements 13
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This edition of the Report and Financial Statements 
of the Year has a special section for the 25 years 
from the foundation of Banco Regional, with the 
milestones that are highlighted in this period. This 
adds to the letter from the President with the special 
aspects from 2015. 

The following content is structured in four big 
sections with the results from the management 
through the year, providing data, graphics and 
comparisons that allow to note the evolution. 
Each of these points to illustrating the scope of 
the actions, in line with the Vision, Mission and 
Values that drive the Bank in all of its commercial, 
administrative and social initiatives. 

The visualization of each informative segment, which 
appears before the economic data, is presented 
per group of interest, starting with collaborators, 
followed by clients and providers. In the same way, 
a specific block with social and environmental 
projects is shared, whereby the Bank has undertaken 
concrete commitments that make it an important ally 
for the development of society. 

The compilation of data for the preparation of the 
Report is an intense and satisfactory exercise, as 
every year the information is available with greater 
ease. On its turn, the providing areas are more 
involved and provide supplies that have an impact on 
the quality and reliability of the report. 

The commitment of upper management allows 
this exercise of transparency and accountability, 
promoting best practices and providing concrete 
samples of their corporate ethics. 

We hope that this new edition contributes to 
maintaining and strengthening the image that Banco 
Regional has built for itself in the local market. 
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Our 25 years of uninterrupted work have led us to strengthen the 
commitment of the Bank and the ties with local and international allies. 
This results in a wider coverage, the diversification of the offer of products 
and services and the active promotion of our entrepreneurs in the financial 
system, which are the drivers of the development of Paraguay. 

02 
REGIONAL 
IN CONTEXT

25 years believing in you16 2015 Report and Financial Statements 17
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2.1 REGIONAL: THE BANK

Today, Banco Regional is among the five main banking institutions of the country, performing operations 
through two banking sectors: individuals and legal persons. In these segments, clients can access different 
products and services, via web, online or in the 37 available branches, in addition to the Headquarters which 
is located in the city of Encarnación. 

Its main focus in financial products for agribusiness has led to the formation of a highly specialized 
team which is able to answer efficiently to the requirements of producers and other entrepreneurs. The 
commitment of the Bank gets to its collaborators, as it invests in their continuous training as part of its 
strategic actions. 

The corporate development of Regional is also seen in guilds, as it has leadership positions in several 
committees and thematic desks to provide for the strengthening of the sector and to adopt best practices. 

Name of the company
Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A.

Headquarters
Carlos Antonio López Nº 1348 entre Arq. Tomás 
Romero Pereira y 14 de Mayo, Encarnación 
(Department of Itapúa)

680
Collaborators

104.472
Clients

37
Branches

97
ATMs
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Innovar permanentemente para ser el Banco de la 
gente exitosa y protagonista del desarrollo del país.

Integrity
In interpersonal relations between us and clients, based on honesty, respect and ethics. 

Professionalism
Knowledge and abilities to develop our mission. 

Positive Attitude
Towards all of our audiences, working in teams with a call for service. 

Estar comprometidos con el éxito de nuestros 
clientes.

MISSION

VALUES

VISION 

1. Asunción 
Downtown Asunción
Pab 1
Villa Morra
Bulnes
San Martín
Mcal. López Shopping
Eusebio Ayala
2. Central
Fdo. de la Mora
Mariano R. Alonso
Capiatá 
San Lorenzo

5. Caaguazú
Cnel. Oviedo
Campo 9
6. Canindeyú
Curuguaty
Katueté
Nueva Esperanza
7. San Pedro
Santa Rosa del Aguaray
8. Amambay
P. J. Caballero

3. Itapúa
La Paz 
Fram
Cnel. Bogado
Superseis - Encarnación
Encarnación Headquarters
Bella Vista
Obligado
Pirapó
Ma. Auxiliadora
4. Guairá
Villarrica

9. Alto Paraná
San Cristóbal
Naranjal
Santa Rita
Downtown C.D.E.
C.D.E. (Área 1)
Pab 3 - Itaipú
Hernandarias
San Alberto
Sta. Rosa del Monday

1

2

3

4

5

9

67

8

2.2 INSTITUTIONAL STATEMENTS
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Syndicated financial agreement with the Dutch Development Bank 
(FMO) – Belgian Investment Society (BIO), for an amount of US$ 
40 million, with a term of seven years and with the main goal of 
strengthening the sector of agricultural industry. 

Financial agreement with the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting 
Countries (OPEC) Fund for International Development (OFID), for US$ 
25 million, destined to financial support for imports and exports of 
several products, with emphasis in the agricultural sector. 

This loan is the second one that OPEC-OFID grants the Bank, after a 
credit facility of US$ 10 million, granted in 2013 for small and medium 
agricultural enterprises and the food industry. 

Funding contract with the International Finance Corporation (IFC), for 
US$ 60 million, for a term of seven years, to support the growth of 
small and medium Paraguayan enterprises. This is the first time that 
IFC signs an agreement with a Paraguayan Bank for said term, which 
represents the level of trust in our institution and helps us to keep 
betting on the growth of the productive sector of the country. 

2 new branches in productive areas of the Country: Nueva Esperanza 
and Campo 9. 

New version of REGIONAL WEB: Official opening for individual clients of 
the new transactional place of Regional Web, which incorporates a fully 
renovated environment that will considerably improve the experience of 
our clients with respect to this tool. 

Funding contract with the Inter-American Development Bank (IADB) for 
US$ 23 million, to support the growth of small and medium Paraguayan 
companies. 

Part of the funds is focused on SMEs projects led by women and ‘green’ 
projects, i.e., those that incorporate improvements of environmental 
efficiency. The funding has two sources, a loan for US$ 20 million 
provided by the Inter-American Development Bank (IADB) and a loan 
for US$ 3 million, provided by Responsability Investment AG, a leader in 
asset management based in Zurich. 

SYNDICATED FINANCIAL 
AGREEMENT

FINANCIAL 
AGREEMENT

CONTRACT 
WITH IFC

OPENING 
OF BRANCHES

LAUNCH 
OF THE NEW WEBSITE

CONTRACT 
WITH THE IADB

2.3 MAIN EVENTS IN 2015
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03 
CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

In 1991, when Banco Regional opened its doors to the public, the 
structure of the foundation that supported the business was formed by a 
team of people driven by the inspiration of the dream that motivated its 
founders. 

Today, the organization is highly specialized and with a corporate 
governance system that allows the orderly and planned action of 
processes, in line with our statements of values and ethical principles. 

25 years believing in you24 2015 Report and Financial Statements 25
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3.1 STRUCTURE OF GOVERNANCE

The system of corporate governance of Banco Regional is based on a Board, comprised by a President, a 
Vice-President, eight Directors and two Trustees (regular and alternative). This Board is accountable to the 
General Meeting, which is the highest authority of the company and the main deliberative body. Its duties are 
followed by the Management and the Technical Committees. 

General Meeting

All shareholders of the company meet in this 
space to examine, discuss and vote on the financial 
statements and to deliberate on the way to use/
distribute gains and dividends. 

Members of the General Meeting, as the main 
body, meet regularly once a year and whenever the 
situation demands it. 

Board

The General Meeting also has the duty to select the 
members of the Board, whose term in the office is of 
2 years with the possibility of reelection. 
The Board represents, directs and supervises the 
operations of the Bank and it is responsible for the 
achievement of goals set. 

Managers

Managers are people selected according to the 
profile set for each position. To fill these positions, 
experience, education, suitability and ethical 
behavior are prioritized. People assigned to 
managerial positions have the ability and autonomy 
to solve and make decisions on the management 
processes of the Bank, and are the first visible face 
of the institution before the groups of interest. 

Technical Committees

The Board and the Executive Management have the 
support of Technical Committees, whose members 
accompany and support these instances of the 
Corporate Governance within their specializations, 
allowing informed decision-making aiming at the 
achievement of the Mission and Vision of the Bank. 
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Executive Staff

General Manager

Deputy General Manager

Internal Audit Manager

Compliance Manager

Legal Affairs Manager

Corporate Risk Manager and Business

Manager Risk Individuals and SMEs

Finance Manager

Human Resources Manager

Operations Manager

Business Support Manager

Information Technology Manager

Administrative Manager

Corporate Banking Acting Manager

Branch Manager

Private Banking Manager 

Treasury Manager

Correspondent and Foreing Trade Manager

Regulary Notary

General Accountant

President

Vice-President

Director

Director

Director

Alternate Director

Alternate Director

Alternate Director

Alternate Director

Alternate Director

Syndic

Alternate Syndic

Raúl Vera Bogado

Cornelis J. Beijer

Alfredo Ricardo Raatz

Petrus van Jaarsveld

Wolfgang Brönstrup

Irene Memmel de Matiauda

Erik Heyl

Francisco Yanagida

Adrián Lorenzutti

Mirian Raatz de Soley

Roland Wolff

Sandra Yshizuka

3.2 LIST OF DIRECTORS AND UPPER STAFF

Members of the Board

Eugenio Oze de Morvil Martínez

Matheus den Exter

Juan Carlos Meza 

Erica Werner

Marcos Dalla Fontana

Jorge Sienkawiec

Mats Hernegard

Oscar Godoy Silvero

María del Carmen Valenzuela

Isabel Galiano de Ayala

Rodrigo Bauzá

Mirta González

Fabio Sitzmann Hein

Walter Duarte Kallus

Justin van der Sluis

Anahí Heisecke

Daniel Cibils

María Fernanda Carrón 

Leticia Pérez Dominguez

Francisco Fuman S. 
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3.3 CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Banco Regional, from 2008, is a Publicly-Traded Company (Sociedad Anónima Emisora de Capital Abierto). 
Its share portfolio as of the end of 2015 is mainly integrated by the local founding partners with 61.88% and a 
foreign shareholder, Rabo Development B.V. from Holland, with 38.12%. 

The percentage distribution of Preferred Shares is 60% for local shareholders and 40% for Rabo 
Development B.V. 

The behavior of local shareholders is governed by an internal Code of Ethics of the Bank to maintain the 
standards of good conduct of all members of the institution. Likewise, Rabo Development also has similar 
documentation and the guidelines are supplementary. 

Shareholders have direct access to areas of the Bank to request financial information, to make enquiries and 
state concerns or simply to monitor the progress of organizational development. 

1. Rabobank Internacional 100,00% Holanda

Shareholder

Shareholder: 
Rabo Development B.V.

Percentage 
of participation Country

This clarification is made upon request of the SUPERINTENDENCY OF BANKS within the framework of 
article 107 “Information Transparency” of Law No. 861/96 “General of Banks, Financial and other Credit 
Institutions” and provisions of Circular SB. SG. No. 003/02 dated January 3, 2002. 

1. Rabo Development B.V.
2. Local shareholders

38,12%
61,88%

Holanda
Paraguay

Shareholders 
of Ordinary Shares

Percentage 
of participation Country

1. Rabo Development B.V.
2. Local shareholders

40,00%
60,00%

Holanda
Paraguay

Shareholders 
of Preferred Shares

Percentage 
of participation Country

Statement

The financial institution BANCO REGIONAL S.A.E.C.A. informs the national financial system, its clients and 
the general public that its share composition as of December 31, 2015 is structured as follows: 

Secretary 
of the Board

MEETING OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

Regular Trustee
Alternate Trustee

Compliance 
Manager

Assistant 
Compliance 

Manager

Internal Audit 
Manager 

Assistant Internal 
Audit Manager

Internal Legal 
Counsel Manager

Audit Committee
Compliance 
Committee

Credit Committee
HR Committee

ALCO Committee
Strategic Planning 

Committee

Executive 
President

General 
Manager

Deputy General 
Manager

Individuals 
and SMEs Risk 

Manager 

Models and 
Policies 
Manager

Corporate 
and 

Companies 
Credit Risk 

Manager

Assistant 
Market Risk 

Manager

Assistant 
Operating Risk 

Manager

Head of 
Overseeing 

and 
Monitoring

Credit Analysis 
and Recovery 
/ Individuals 

Banking 
Manager

Corporate 
Banking Risk 

Manager

Corporate 
Banking 
Manager

Human 
Resources 
Manager

Branches 
Manager

Private Banking 
Manager

Personal Banking 
Manager

Business 
Support 
Manager

IT Manager
Correspondents 

and Foreign Trade 
Manager

Administrative 
Manager

Operations 
Manager

Treasury 
Manager

Finance 
Manager

General 
Accountant

Agricultural 
Procedures 

Banking 
Manager

Head 
of HR 

Administration
Bulnes Branch 

Manager

Regional 
Manager 

Central Region

Assistant 
Costs Control 

Manager

Agribusiness 
Banking 
Manager

Head of 
Organizational 
Development

Private 
Banking 

Encarnación 
Manager

Regional 
Manager 
Eastern 
Region

Business 
Coach

Private 
Banking 

Ciudad del 
Este Manager

Regional 
Manager 
Southern 

Region

Regional 
Manager 
Northern 

Region

Assistant 
Business 
Support 
Manager

Head of 
Payments and 

Services

Head of Cards 
and 

Electronic 
Collection

Head of 
Logistics, 

Products and 
Services

Head of 
Administrative 
Management 
of Providers

Head of 
Operating 

Services and 
Administrative 

Projects

Assistant 
Physical 
Security 
Manager

Assistant 
Operations 
Manager

Financial 
Operations

Head 
of Credit 

Administration

Head 
 Sales of 
Treasury

Head of 
Trading of 
Treasury

Head of 
Foreign Trade

Correspon-
dents

Management 
of Assets and 

Liabilities

Regional 
Operating 

Heads

Transactional 
Certifications

Massive 
Processes

Head of IT 
Security

Administrative 
Controls

Assistant 
Projects and 
Investments 
and Admin.
Expenses 
Manager

Assistant 
Infrastructure 

and 
Production 
Manager

Head of 
Applications 
Architecture 

Assistant 
IT Project 

Management 
Manager

Assistant 
Applications 

Manager

Assistant 
O&M 

Manager

Assistant IT 
Governance 
Support and 
Management 

of IT Providers 
Manager

Marketing 
Manager

Insurer 
Manager

Channels and 
Commercial 

Leads 
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3.5 CODE OF CONDUCT

In compliance with the national and international 
standards of conduct and in line with the 
requirements of our partner – Rabobank-, we have 
prepared a new Code of Conduct, which incorporates 
the corporate values and the rules of conduct that 
apply to all members of the Bank. 

The Code of Conduct of Banco Regional lists a series 
of situations that may occur in the performance of 
duties and sets out the expected behaviour if they 
happen. It defines the guidelines of action that must 
be followed, always following local regulations and 
institutional values. 

The provisions of the Code allow us to: 

• Define and standardize our way of action, according 
to the values and principles of the Bank
• Raise awareness in all collaborators, on the ethical 
conducts for the Bank; and

• Set out courses of action in the event of conducts 
that are not in accordance with the defined ethics. 

The six main principles of the Code of Ethics are: 

1. Ethical behavior and compliance with the local 
laws in force. 

2. Avoidance of conflicts of interest for or in Banco 
Regional. 

3. Professional behavior and integrity. 

4. Respect to confidentiality and protection of the 
integrity and security of assets, communications, 
information and transactions. 

5. Treatment with justice, equality and 
professionalism for all people related to Banco 
Regional, whether they are clients, providers, 
collaborators or others. 

6. Respect to our commitments with the society 
where we operate. 

3.6 RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity Administration Risk Management

The Bank sets out strict criteria for the management 
of liquidity based on the assessment through models 
of Liquidity Gaps, projecting its Balance through 
time to calculate the minimum reserves of Liquid 
Assets (Buffer) in local and foreign currency so that 
liabilities can be complied with ease. 

The indicators that serve for early detection of future 
events that allow the advanced and timely reaction 
by risk managers are also controlled and analyzed. 
One of them is the Herfindahl Hirschman index, 
which sets out a measurement for the concentration 
of deposits and the participation of the 50 biggest 
depositors. 

The control of liquidity risks demands an exhausting 
process that includes the Commercial Areas, 
Finance, Risks and Treasury; it allows to manage 
liquidity in the short term and the need of funds in 
time with the purpose of complying with the goals 
proposed for the institution. 

The focus on liquidity control has allowed the 
compliance with the goals of the Institution, keeping 
a comfortable Liquidity situation despite the 
unfavourable market conditions for the country. 

Market Risk Management

The exposure to price variations, such as the 
Exchange Rates and Interest Rates, are part of the 
integral risk management of Banco Regional. 

For that reason, in the Policy of Market Risks, the 
models of measurement, control and risk limits from 
the price variation are determined with accuracy. 

The Exchange Rate Risk includes models 
consolidates through limits of Value at Risk (VAR) of 
the positions in foreign currency. 

The individual positions are also controlled 
automatically. The limits proposed for the risk of 

quotation are more demanding than those set out by 
the Central Bank of Paraguay in its regulations.

To measure the Interest Risk, there are models 
based on the measurement of sensitivity of the 
Balance Sheet to the variation of a basic point of the 
interest rates in the market (Present Value Basic 
Point – PVBP) with limits set out for control and a 
VAR of Interest Rates as an auxiliary indicator of 
management. These measures allow us to project 
the GAP of Interest Rates and to assess the risks for 
the Active and Passive positions undertaken and, 
therefore, to manage the coverages and mitigation 
with precision.
 

Operating Risk Management

For the Operating Risk management, the Bank 
has undertaken the methodology of the Three 
Lines of Defense. So, the unit of Operating Risk 
(which periodically reports to the Corporate Risks 
Management and the Risk Committee) provides the 
tools to owners of risks to identify, measure, assess, 
monitor, control and mitigate the operating risk. 

The unit of Operating Risk works with all of the other 
departments, registering the incidents that allow 
the identification of the opportunities of continuous 
improvement of the processes of the Bank. 

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
(UNFOLD TO VIEW)
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Social and Environmental Risk 
Management

Attention to the Social and Environmental Risk 
Management is focused on strengthening the 
relationship with the client, identifying, evaluating 
and managing risks generated by the activities and 
projects of its endeavors. This is done to minimize 
possibilities of becoming indirect accomplices. 
The Bank has a list of non-fundable activities and 
a Risk Matrix based on an estimation of the risk 
of the funded activity and a determination of the 
exposure of the Institution to that risk. The intensity 
of due diligence and the depth of credit conditions 
are defined with these two factors. It is important 
to mention that, to achieve a good management of 
these risks, collaborators are consistently trained, 
so that they can adequately evaluate and measure 
the risks. 

Credit Risk Management

EIn the area of Credit Risk Management, considering 
the segments aimed by the Bank, there are 
proceedings and tools that make it possible to 
evaluate, undertake and control credit risks for the 
types of debtors (Corporate Clients SMEs, Persons, 

Small Companies). There is also an area of Account 
Overseeing and Monitoring, which is in charge of 
the follow-up of early warning indicators in the 
Portfolio of Clients. The main basis for the analysis 
is the ability to pay for the debtor, as expressed by 
the regulator, the Central Bank of Paraguay (BCP), 
for the purposes of maintaining the credit portfolio 
of the Bank rated and establishing allowances that 
cover losses estimated in the recovery of the credits. 

3.7 STRATEGIC AND AUXILIARY COM-
MITTEES

Committees are supporting bodies that provide 
a specialized service for members of the Board 
and Upper Management. They are included in the 
organizational chart of the Bank as they are part of 
the permanent structure. 

In the reported period, the Committees in force are: 

• ALCO Committee

The ALCO Committee makes decisions regarding 
the administration of transactions of assets and 
liabilities, receives the support of duties performed 
by Treasury and other Departments in terms of 

report and analysis of expositions and is a tactical 
body to ensure the normal development and 
sustainability of the institution in the long term. 

The main goal of the Management and Assets and 
Liabilities refers to the integral process that allows 
the conservation of an adequate liquidity, maintaining 
sufficient capital and using it efficiently. The primary 
components are: capital management, interest rates 
risk management, liquidity, exchange rates and 
policies to set prices for the transference of funds.

• Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for supervising 
the correct execution of audit policies and strategies 
of the Bank, as well as the reliability of the control 
systems. 

• Credit Committee

The Credit Committee is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the best practices, policies, 
proceedings, laws and standards set out by 
regulators to maintain a healthy and prudent 
administration of undertaken risks. 

• Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee is responsible for the 
approval of the Manual of Anti-Money Laundering/
Funding of Terrorism and Proliferation of Weapons 
of Mass Destruction. Said Committee has to analyze 
issues related to the area of Compliance that by 
regulatory implications or reputation may affect the 
Bank, in addition to the analysis of cases that may be 
sufficiently justified to be reported to the Secretariat 
for the Prevention of Money Laundering. 

• Strategic Planning Committee

The Strategic Planning Committee is the executive 
body responsible for approving the big decisions 
related to the design and implementation of the 
Strategic Plan of the Bank, defined for the 2013-2017 
period. 

• Risks Committee

The management of risks and security is a process 
that involves all areas of the bank. The Risks 
Committee is responsible for overseeing that the 
performance of the operations is adjusted to the 
objectives, guidelines and policies for the integral 
administration of risks, as well as limits of risk 
exposure (risk appetite) which had been previously 
approved by the Board. It promotes the participation 
of three lines of defense so that the risks and the 
security of the Bank can be adequately managed. To 
perform its duties, it receives the support of different 
areas of the Department of Risks and also from the 
areas of physical security and logistics of the Bank. 

• Human Resources Committee

The HR Committee is an executive body in charge of 
approving the implementation of those sub-systems 
and practices of human resources according to the 
needs of the organization and the strategic plan of 
the Bank as approved by the Board. 
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04 
REGIONAL 
AND SOCIETY

These 25 years have turned us into an ally for the development of the 
country, pushing us every day to seek an extended benefit for not just our 
shareholders and clients, but also all of the other groups of interest with 
whom we relate to, starting with the more than 600 collaborators who are 
committed to the vision of Banco Regional. 

We understand that the creation of social and environmental value is part of 
the management of every company nowadays, so we also progress towards 
results with impact in these areas. 

25 years believing in you36 2015 Report and Financial Statements 37
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4.1 WE MAKE A GREAT TEAM

As a Bank, we have made it our goal to be one of 
the best places to work. That is why we generate 
labour conditions that contribute to the satisfaction 
of our collaborators, support their personal and 
professional development and promote their sense 
of belonging. 

From the Human Resources Management, processes 
are managed to consolidate teamwork. It is divided 
into two departments, which are: 

• Organizational Development, with the objectives of 
hiring the best talent, providing training that ensures 
the development of the collaborator and fostering 
communication, integration and sense of belonging. 

• Human Resources Administration, which is 
in charge of the definition and application of 
compensations and benefits for collaborators, 
seeking to always ensure the best conditions for 
everyone. 

The main focus of action of this area, in 2015, was 
the strengthening of ties so that the attitudes and 
activities reflect the three main values of the Bank: 
Integrity, Professionalism and Positive Attitude. 
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Indicator

TOTAL COLLABORATORS

BY GENDER
Number of Men
Number of Women
 
BY AGE
18 to 19 years old
20 to 29 years old
30 to 39 years old
40 to 49 years old
More than 50 years old

BY POSITION
Directors
Managers and Assistant Managers
Heads of Department and Supervision
Account Executives
Operational

WOMEN IN DIRECTIVE AND/OR MANAGERIAL POSITIONS

2014

689

452
237

0
199
327
139

24

11
76
86

135
335

11

2013

711

470
241

0
232
326
127

26

10
79
94

123
334

12

2015

680

444
236

0
188
312
154

26

9
82
86

130
382

11

Profile of Collaborators Our training practices

Today, in Banco Regional, we are implementing a 
process of continuous training for all collaborators. 
The Training process starts acknowledging the needs 
of training per area through the collection of data at 
the start of the year. 

The Annual Training Plan combines several 
modes, both internal and external and they can be 
attendance-based, e-learning (virtual), position 
training or mixed modes. 

The learning plans can include conceptual and 
technical aspects and attitude abilities. The training 
courses and programmes seek to develop those 
competencies. 

In 2015, 80 attendance-based training activities were 
carried on, both internally and externally, distributed 
among the members of several areas, for a total of 
3,000 hours and an approximate investment of PYG 
725,000,000. 

Convinced that the higher education produces 
benefits for the organization, we support Master’s 
and postgraduate programs. This year, we have 
invested in the Finance, Branches and Corporate 
Banking areas. 

The internship program in Rabobank (Holland) is 
still the aspiration of many collaborators each year, 
who prepare themselves in terms of knowledge, 
education and language to be candidates. 

The training practices are integrated to improve 
the performance of collaborators in their current 
position, as well as to promote their development in 
other competencies. 

Criteria for the selection and hiring

EIn Banco Regional, we try to have the adequate 
talent for each position. This is why all of our 
selection procedures are made through well-defined 
criteria for each position, considering competency 
and equality of opportunities, in addition to the prior 
experience in the sector. Their adequacy to the 
values, mission, vision and goals of the Bank are also 
analyzed. 

The following competencies are among those 
considered as fundamental requirements: 

• Attitude for Service
• Commitment
• Focused on results
• Negotiation
• Integrity
• Responsibility
• Teamwork

• Strategic and commercial vision
• Leadership
• Proactivity and innovation
• Personal image
• Interpersonal communication

Each process of selection is based on tools that allow 
us to measure the qualities of the persons, as well 
as to project their work performance and to prepare 
their career plan within the organization. It has to be 
mentioned that the searches to cover vacancies are 
made firstly internally and if the needed profile is not 
met or the position points towards a specific level, it 
is done externally. 

The new collaborator starts to live the Regional 
culture from the incorporation through an induction 
process in our Headquarters (Encarnación). 
 

This year, the training of all staff (100%) was covered, 
meaning that each collaborator participated in at 
least one training activity. 

Universidad Regional [Regional University]

Universidad Regional allows us to capitalize on 
knowledge and experience in a permanent training 
program that points out to the development of the 
career of the collaborators. 

We have developed a syllabus for positions in 
branches and regulatory issues for the entire staff. 
The use of the e-learning platform was strengthened 
to get to all collaborators in the quickest and most 
effective way possible, remarking that it is possible 
to access said training tool from the houses of our 
collaborators. 

In 2015, 11 on-line course were implemented, for 
a total of 9,984 hours and the content of other 4 
courses started to be developed for implementation 
next year: 

Regional University (11 courses implemented)

Course on Credit Analysis for SMEs

FATCA Training

Course on Stock Exchanges

Training on key position processes

Exponegocios Seminar

Workshop ‘Global View of grains and oilseeds markets’

Calligraphy tests and Initial training for cashiers

681

12

21

16

20

10

15

47

Summary of Training Activities

Type of activity Number of participants

Implemented 2015

Alternative Channels – Level I

General Concepts of Products and Services

Compliance – Level III

Our Essence

Procedures in the Request for Products and Services

Operating Risk

Scoring 2.0

Security of Information

Cards – Level II

Confidentiality of Information

Physical Security

Developed 2015

Model of Service

Foreign Trade Products

SMEs Risks

Issued Transfers



4325 Years believing in you 2015 Report and Financial Statements42

How we communicate between ourselves

In Banco Regional, we understand that 
communication is a fundamental part of the 
commitment and motivation of collaborators, which 
impacts on the success of the company. 

From the area of Internal Communication, in 2015, 
we have accompanied the processes of change in the 
Bank, covering new branches, new structures, news, 
and changes of procedures, among others. We work 
on the constant improvement of statements, betting 
on a simpler and more visual communication, with a 
bigger impact for our collaborators. 

We also work to renovate the sections of the Intranet, 
launched in 2014, with articles on quality of life, 
motivational phrases, training schedule, banners with 
news, promotions, campaigns and articles, Marketing 
promotions, updated data on the Bank, among 
others; in addition to the launch of several contests to 
promote the integration and motivation of the entire 
staff.

We work on Internal Satisfaction

The satisfaction of all of our collaborators is 
a fundamental piece for the success of the 
Organization. Reorienting our efforts to achieve their 
commitment and welfare was one of the priorities in 
2015. Being aware that listening would be the initial 
push to achieve this, we decided to ally with the 

international consultant Great Place to Work® and to 
implement the first Climate Survey administered 
by it. 

In 2015, we also promoted several activities of 
integration and recreation: 

• Workers’ Day Lunch: Organized per region and 
which included the families of each collaborator with 
the intention of promoting integration and recognition 
to those who provide their support and commitment 
every day. 

• Contest ‘Create moments’: Organized to strengthen 
the campaign of credit cards internally. The 
contest consisted in sharing a photo in the intranet 
representing an unforgettable moment for the 
collaborator. The price was a tablet. 

• Contest ‘#MiPrimaverapy’ [#MySpringPy]: To 
participate in the contest, collaborators had to upload 
on Instagram a picture representing the spirit of 
spring for them. The prices were a hammock and a 
terere equipment. 

• Contest ‘I have an idea’: This initiative was launched 
with the purpose of listening to those collaborators 
with ideas that involve improvements, advantages 
and optimization of time for our clients, our people 
and the Bank. 4 of the ideas were chosen and their 
proponents received a tablet as price. 

Coverage of 80% of the cost for the beneficiary and the basic family group

Coverage of 100% of the cost of the life insurance

5 working days off and a subsidy for marriage

90 calendar days of license for maternity

Breastfeeding period of 1 hour per day up to the 6 months of age of the nursing infant

A present is given for the newborn

10 working days per year for the mother and father

6% of the minimum wage of the Bank, for children up to 17 years-old, paying the double for children 
of widower workers

Additional 50% family bonus for employees with children with disabilities

- For the death of a spouse, children or parents of the employee

- For the birth of a child of the employee

- For marriage

Amount set out by the Collective Contract, for the payment of day care of children up to 4 years-old

12 working days off paid for people who undertake college education and who must take regular 
exams are conceded. 

Amount set out according to the Collective Contract

Twice a year (one for winter and another one for summer)

Right to a day off for birthday, to be exercised in the month of the birthday
A birthday present is given to each collaborator. 

Celebration of the workers’ day per region

An end-of-year present is given to each collaborator.

Table of Benefits granted in 2015

Benefit

Medical Insurance

Life Insurance

Marriage

Family bonus

Subsidies

Day care benefit

Monthly stipend

Uniforms

Birthdays

Workers’ Day

End-of-year presents

License for college exams

Maternity and Childbirth

License for illness of children

Investment



4525 Years believing in you 2015 Report and Financial Statements44

We innovate for our collaborators

2015 came with a lot of innovations for the benefit 
of the collaborators and the Bank, speeding up and 
making processes easier. Among them, we can 
mention the Performance Management System and 
the following systems: 

-HR Portal: Through said portal, collaborators can 
access the detail of their salaries, consult and print 
their receipts. 

-ABM of users: A system designed so that 
collaborators can make the creation, deletion or 
changes of users and systems that they will use for 
their duties, in a dynamic and easy way. 

Renewal of the Collective Contract

By the end of 2015, a new collective contract was 
negotiated looking for more benefits for the welfare 
and the satisfaction of our collaborators, keeping 
current clauses and adding new ones: 

• License of 3 working days for particular 
proceedings in the national territory. 

• The license for birthdays was extended for those 
people whose birthdays coincide with holidays or 
weekends
. 
• The license for illness of a child was extended to up 
to 10 days for the father or mother. 

• Male uniforms: provision of an elegant suit every 4 
years. 

• Change in the amount assigned for college 
degrees. 

The Security of our collaborators

During 2015, evacuation drills were carried on in 
branches with the largest number of collaborators. 
These are: 
• Headquarters
• Downtown Asunción
• San Martín
• Ciudad del Este
• Villa Morra Offices
These offices have security brigades, whose 
members are trained in issues related to this work 
so they can provide an effective response when the 
situation demands it. On the other hand, inductions 
to new collaborators in issues related to Policies and 
General Standards of Physical Security are carried 
on. 
In 2015, the e-learning method was used for training 
aimed at the entire staff, covering subjects related 
to: 
• First Aid: Basic procedures. 
• Use of fire extinguishers: Annual lecture from 
technicians of the provider. 
• Evacuation of premises. 
• Procedure in the event of robberies and theft. 
• Management of bomb threat cases. 
• Banking leaks. 

The record of events is held on an Incident Log: 

As for the actual security force, there are 101 private 
guards and monitoring. Schedule reprogramming 
was done for a significant saving compared to the 
previous year. 

Currently, there is a project for the centralization of 
all alarm systems of the Bank, seeking to reinforce 
and improve the electronic security systems that will 
accompany the method of risk analysis implemented, 
adapted to the needs of Physical Security according 
to the practical application of the ISO 31000:2009 
Standard. 

In 2015, Banco Regional reinforced the security of 
ATMs installing devices to ink bills with the purpose 
of dissuading theft with explosives. The results 
of this initiative were excellent (no attack was 
registered). 

The area participates and collaborates actively with 
ASOBAN (the Association of Banks of Paraguay) as 
part of the Physical Security Committee, in subjects 
related to the security of institutions in the country in 
general. 

Table of Security Management

Type of Event

Accidents in premises of the Bank (slips, 
faints, others)

Accidents in cars, working hours

Accidents in thoroughfare, working 
hours

Attempt of robbery of ATM

Banking leaks

1 case (attention in a health center) 6 cases (taken to health centers)

0 cases 0 cases

0 cases 0 cases

0 cases
2 cases (capture of people involved, 
collaboration with the National Police – 
Economic Crimes)

3 cases (explosives) 1 case (skimming)

Año 2014 Año 2015



4725 Years believing in you 2015 Report and Financial Statements46

4.2 WE ARE INSPIRED 
BY OUR CLIENTS

Our work philosophy is mainly centered on offering 
competitive products and services to the market, 
being present in all the country and building a 
relationship based on mutual trust with the client.

The segmentation of our commercial offers, which 
are organized in two banking areas (individual 
and corporate), seeks to provide integral and 
timely answers to individuals, waged earners and 
independent professionals, while also creating 
alternatives for productive, industrial, commercial 
and service units that operate in the country. 

Commercial Management

In 2015, we had 23,746 new clients, which equals a 
growth of 29% with respect to 2014 (80,726). They 
had the opportunity to access our funding options 
and services through our 37 branches, distributed 
in the main cities of the department of Itapúa, Alto 
Paraná, Caaguazú, San Pedro, Amambay, Guairá and 
Central, in addition to the capital. 

By the end of December, Banco Regional has the 
following products: Cards, Savings Accounts, 
Checking Accounts, Loans and Insurance. 
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Credit Cards

We have the international Visa and MasterCard 
credit cards, which can be used around the world in 
participating businesses or ATMs with security and 
comfort while receiving exclusive advantages and 
benefits. 

Likewise, we have the options of Productive Card, 
Mobile Card and Gourmet Card for their use in 
specific sectors and services. 

Other innovative proposal for our Clients of 
Corporate Banking are the prepaid cards for 
national use. They can be used for travel allowances 
and stipends. This product allows the control of 
transactions and a more effective management of 
the allocated resources. 

Promotions and alliances

During the year, the Bank has been working 
on strategic alliances with the most important 
companies and business of the country, to grant 
benefits and special promotions to their clients, 
tied to larger savings, better funding and always 
considering their needs, convenience and welfare.  

Savings Accounts and Checking Accounts

In 2015, we promoted the opening of “Regional 
Junior” Savings Accounts, considering the 
importance of raising awareness on the responsible 
use of money from an early age. 

This Account is opened with PYG 100,000 and has 
special benefits for the users. The owner of the 
account (underage children of our clients) can 
comfortably manage and monitor the transactions 
through the different online channels available for 
the Bank. 

On the other hand, we continue to promote the 
traditional ways of saving, with interesting interest 
rates for on demand and fixed-term accounts, which 
like Checking Accounts, can be used through debit 
cards, checkbooks and online transactions. 

Loans

The clients of Banco Regional have credit facilities 
in the short and long term to fund their working 
capital needs or to support financial projects of 
their agricultural, livestock, commercial, industrial, 
services or SME endeavors. 

The Bank bets on people who are protagonists in 
the development of the country because it is good to 
keep growing. It offers credits for Higher Education 
for local or international doctorates, postgraduate 
courses and Master’s courses to clients who get 
to choose the funding plan that best suits their 
convenience. 

In addition, there are personal loans so that clients 
can fund vehicles, travels, furniture, and personal 
projects quickly and easily, for up to 48 months and 
based on special rates. 

Foreign Trade

This line of business was created to facilitate the 
conclusion of initiatives of entrepreneurs at a 
national level, for imports and exports. 

Insurance

Clients, whether they are Companies or Individuals, 
can access insurance designed specifically to provide 
peace of mind and support for their fleet of vehicles, 
harvests, machinery, fires, guarantees, equipment, 
commercial multi-risk, life, personal accidents, 
house and vehicles, among others. The coverages 
adapt to their needs.  

Management of Services

Treasury and Investments

This service combines the knowledge and abilities 
of the Treasury products and their application in the 
local and international markets, which are provided 
to the client through the Exchange Desks, Money 
Desks and Fixed Income. 

Other Available Services

• SIPAP: It is a safe and quick service to transfer 
money between own and third-party account with 
all of the Banks in the sector. The operations are 
made through the National System of Payments of 
the Central Bank of Paraguay (SIPAP, for its Spanish 
initials). 
• Payment of salaries: This service provides client 
companies important additional benefits, as well 
as users. It is also adequate for the payment to 
Providers and Businesses. 
• Safekeeping and management of checks: With this 
service, the client companies can manage, safe-keep 
and collect their checks (with advance dates, issued 
in the local market). Its use allows the decrease of 
operating risks like loss, thefts, frauds and it allows, 
at the same time, to make use of them in advance. 
• Electronic collection: Available for collection 
of public and private services, as well as direct 
automatic debit. 
• Account report: Through this service, clients 
receive an automatic confirmation for the accounts, 
confirmed payments, registry of depositors, deposits 
of large amounts and submission of statements via 
mail. 
• Armored transportation: Banco Regional also has 
vehicles for the submission of proceeds, remittances, 
custody and administration of stocks. 

Private Banking

The Bank considers each situation and each client 
as unique, so the dedication to them is also unique. 
Personalized assistance is guaranteed, allowing the 
management of the equity of each client with the 
security and solvency that characterizes us with the 
support of an international Bank like Rabobank. 

So, we have exclusive offices of Private Banking for 
clients who demand more from their Bank, operating 
in a personalized and discreet manner, at Bulnes No. 
830 c/ España, Asunción. 

24-Hour Channels

The permanent focus of our management is on the 
constant improvement of our financial offer and the 

services that may satisfy in a continuous way the 
expectations of our clients. 

In that regard, in line with the new institutional 
premises “Security, Simplicity and Availability”, all 
of the team at Banco Regional continued working 
on the update of the channels of remote access and 
service in the branches. 

These are our main channels of access: 

Channels

Regional Web

Regional Móvil [Regional Mobile]

Contact Center

Corporate Contact Center

Social Networks

ATMs

SSTs

Contacts 

info@regional.com.py

0800 11 1800 Free number

(071) 219 0000

*REG (*734) from Tigo and Personal

#SoporteRegional [#SupportRegional] from Social Networks

37 Branches

Regional Web

The website of the Bank is one of the fullest internet 
platforms in the market. By accessing on www.
regional.com.py, clients have the option of making 
multiple and different operations and consults, 
covering the transactional needs that they might 
have as individuals and for the management of their 
companies, with the highest standards of security, 
practicality and comfort. 

Regional Web is modernized continuously, setting the 
standards locally and reorienting information and the 
models of communication to adapt to international 
standards and to easily provide clients and visitors 
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with useful information on the products and services. 
In October, a new section for transactions was 
launched in Regional Web for Individuals. It 
incorporates a fully-renovated environment that 
seeks to considerably improve the experience of our 
clients with respect to this tool. 

Some characteristics of the new Regional Web: 

• Fully redesigned and reorganized section, adjusting 
the graphic lines, icons and other graphic aspects 
to the current international trend already used in 
Regional Móvil. 

• Responsive design that will identify the type of 
device to adapt the graphic environment. 

• Possibility to personalize the site ranking the 
accounts according to the priority chosen by the 
client. 

• Complete reengineering of the flows, grouping 
similar operations and simplifying the steps required 
to finalize an operation. 

• Graphic representation of the movements of 
accounts. 

• Incorporation of tags in movements of accounts 
and cards, which will allow clients to organize their 
debits, expenses and investments and to obtain a 
graphic representation of them in a month. 

• Permanent access to the Contact Center through 
the online chat available in all pages of the site. 

• Presence of video tutorials available to clients to 
inform them of the new characteristics. 

Regional Móvil

The clients require constant connectivity. That is why 
a platform for mobile phones has been implemented, 
covering most high and low-end phones. This 
platform joins the version of Regional Móvil *734#, 
launched in 2014, for smartphones with Internet 
connection. This app is fully oriented to getting 
an excellent experience for the client, one that is 

intuitive, secure, modern and simple to use, with the 
complete variety of operations and consultations, in 
addition to other specifications of the channel. 

The acceptance of the new app was proven with a 
1,083% of growth in the number of active users and 
exceeding the 30,000 transactions per month in the 
same year. 

Contact Center

In this service, the assigned operators help clients 
with their consults, in addition to advising them on 
products, services and providing information on what 
they need. 

At the same time, it is a transactional channel 
where operations from Checking Accounts, Savings 
Accounts, Credit and Debit Cards, Loans and 
Insurance are done. 

Corporate Contact Center Service

This is an exclusive phone service for clients of 
Corporate Banking and Private Banking. It is serviced 
by highly qualified operators who offer solutions and 
answers to consults, requests and complaints. It is 
available Mondays through Fridays, from 08:00 to 
18:00 hours. Some services provided are: Letter of 
Reference, Support for access from a new device, 
Unblocking of DS keys (Account), Consult of transfers 
through SIPAP, Check custody, among others. 

 
Social Networks

The current world communicates through several 
social networks, which have changed the way we 
interact with people. Banco Regional has its own 
sites on Facebook, Twitter, YouTube and Instagram 
from 2013, following up on the world trends and 
providing new channels of communication between 
the client and the Bank. 

With permanent attention from advisors and 
operators specifically assigned to this work, 
interactions are held in real-time and consults and 
requirements are serviced with high priority. 

In the same way, these sites include promotions and 
benefits granted by the Bank to clients, attracting 
potential clients to the Bank. 

ATMs

There are more than 95 ATMs distributed throughout 
the national territory. From them, one can do: cash 
withdrawals with debit and credit cards; consults 
of balances; bank statements; transfers between 
Regional accounts and other banks; requests for 
checkbooks; consults of balances and movements; 
payment of services; payment of credit cards and 
disbursement of pre-approved loans, among other 
services. 

SSTs

In the SSTs, which are located in all of our branches, 
clients can make deposits of cash and checks, 
payments of credit cards and loans, among others. 
Depending on the type of transaction, one must have 
a password. 

Compliance

Implementation of Resolution No. 85/2015

The process of implementation of additional controls 
set out by this regulation affecting clients working 
on the purchase and sale of cars, motorcycles, 
machinery and vehicles was moved forward. 

In this process, we have identified clients affected 
by this regulation to request the registration in 
SEPRELAD. This process is permanent and for that 
purpose, the Manual for the Prevention of Money 
Laundering was updated to include the documentary 
requirements set in the Resolution. 

In 2015, the Department of Compliance assisted 
the Department of Human Resources, following 
the recommendations received from RaboBank, to 
collaborate in the preparation and application of 
related policies to mitigate this risk in the entity. 

Kroll Audit

We have completed the negotiations with the 
company KROLL to start a process for the integral 
review of our systems of prevention of money 
laundering, funding of terrorism and proliferation of 
weapons of mass destruction. The review would be 
undertaken in February 2016. 

Training on Compliance

As part of the approved annual training plan, training 
of the entire commercial staff was carried on with 
talks, virtual channels –like Universidad Regional-, 
Module III and constant follow-up to ensure that 
collaborators have the needed knowledge to do their 
work. It has to be said that, once the virtual training 
concludes, the participants must complete a test to 
evaluate their learning outcome.

Topaz Trace

From its launch in 2013, it has undergone 5 phases 
of improvement, adapting controls to requirements 
of regulatory entities and control processes to 
which the office has been subjected. We are in talks 
with the providers of the Topaz Trace system to 
start Phase VI of the improvement in the process of 
monitoring of alerts. 
Additionally, considering the incorporation to our 
area of Registration Projects and Bearer Shares, 
we requested the development of subjects related 
to manual alerts, related to the respective tasks of 
these sectors.
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Bearer Shares

This project was started with the purpose of 
identifying Sociedad Anónima [Share Companies] 
clients with bearer shares and nominal shares 
to comply with the regulations in force in 
Resolution No. 345 from SEPRELAD, as well as 
our correspondents abroad, adapting systems and 
procedures for the compliance. 

As part of this project, we have identified 2,579 
clients subjected to this project, 162 of which (16%) 
has nominal shares, 1061 of which (41%) has bearer 
shares and the remaining percentage are clients who 
are still to be analyzed and whose files do not have 
updated information. 

The actions undertaken to regularize the pending 
documentation are the creation of alerts in our 
AML monitoring system. We keep on the process 
of identifying shareholders of Sociedad Anónima 
clients, regularizing the pending documentation to 
conclude with the identification of 100% of the cases 
as soon as possible. 

Additionally, it should be informed that upon request 
of the Banking Correspondents and the Board of 
our institution, we are permanently reporting on the 
progress of this project. 

FATCA

In March, the first report of BANCO REGIONAL was 
sent successfully to the IRS. With the submission 
of this first FATCA report for 2014, the request was 
met before the deadline. Likewise, in the midst of 
the year, all managers of the Bank and the FATCA 
team were trained on FATCA Regulation by the Ernst 
& Young consulting company. In the subsequent 
months, and to comply with the new requirements 
for the report of the 2015 period, the process 
for the request of information to clients and the 
improvement of procedures was worked on. 

Registration

TConsidering as a premise the compliance with 
local regulations, since February, the organizational 

chart of the department underwent some changes. 
A FATCA and Special Projects area was included to 
closely coordinate the progress on both projects with 
first-hand information to comply with requirements 
from local regulatory bodies and foreign 
correspondents. 

The Area of Document Management has been 
available to branches to collaborate with the 
additional advice that they might need, considering 
that this will be a periodic and sustained control to 
guarantee the quality of the process. 

Promotion and Marketing Initiatives 

The actions of Marketing for the Agriculture and 
Livestock sectors were seen in the participation in 
events from those sectors. Among them, we can 
mention the presence of the Bank through stands in 
the following exhibitions: 

• Agroshow Copronar, in Naranjal (Alto Paraguay), 
where solutions were offered mainly to agricultural 
clients. 

• Expo Canindeyú in the department of the same 
name, which every year gathers people interested 
in the agricultural and livestock sectors. The Bank 
offered financial solutions to these sectors through 
Officers and Managers. 

• Expo Santa Rita in the city of the same name. 
Funding proposals were presented to the sectors in 
this successful and traditional event for the Bank that 
gathers clients and providers of the region. 

• Expo Mariano Roque Alonso through alliances 
with the Livestock Associations Nelore and Angus. 2 
events were held for livestock and industrial clients 
and the partners of those associations. 

• Agrodinámica in Itapúa. Clients and guests 
were offered and invited to a talk on Economic 
Perspectives of the country. 

Additionally, through these events, the Bank 
actively participated in livestock fairs organized 
by associations or particular clients, fishing 

tournaments, festivals of several cities, sponsorships 
and donations. 

As for Personal Banking, actions were undertaken to 
incorporate new clients to this segment that might 
position the Bank as a universal one. A relevant event 
in the year was a general campaign on Credit Cards 
to position cards from the Bank in the market. 

This campaign sought to be the central focus of the 
product, reinforced with tactical campaigns with 
incentives, such as promotions in the main segments 
(supermarkets, travel, gas, purchases abroad and 
instalments without interests). In addition, internal 
actions to promote the sale of cards were undertaken 
aimed at collaborators with very good reception. 

To complete the flow of sale of cards, a pilot 
promotion plan for commercial businesses, mainly 
travel agencies, was developed and implemented, 
with positive results. Alliances were consolidated 
with car dealerships, offering advantageous funding 
for clients in the main dealerships in the country. 

Complaints Management

In 2015, two cases were filed before the Secretariat 
for the Protection of Consumers (SECEDO); an 

alleged violation of Law No. 1334/98 of Consumer 
and User Protection and the complaint for the 
rejection of a transfer of money from abroad. 

Both cases were considered and solved with the 
conformity of the affected clients. 

It is important to remark that the Bank is open to 
answer the complaints of its clients and to reach 
to agreements that benefit both parties, as well as 
applying and being subjected to the application of 
regulations in force. 

Complaints can be made in all of the channels of 
service. They are received with the upmost respect 
upon revealing the specific data of each case. 
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4.3 WE PROMOTE LOCAL PROVIDERS  

In our pursuit of continuous improvement, we 
include those companies that provide us with goods 
and services in our processes. We seek that the 
relationship is made in a way that both of us win and 
promote the development of the Bank. 

We understand that in this way to act and relate 
allows us to look after the reputation that we have 
built with effort and which requires attention to be 
maintained and to last through time. 

We will now share the main guidelines and 
information on our management with providers. 

Criteria for the Selection and Contracting 

The providers of the Bank have to comply with the 
legislation in force and if violations are detected, 
measures will be taken which can include penalties 
and the suspension of the contract. 

Special attention is provided to environmental 
aggression and child labour as they might be 
incurred during the provision process. As of today, 
there are no negative events on these issues. 



5725 Years believing in you 2015 Report and Financial Statements56

Type of provider

Human Resources

Personal Banking

Business Support

Administration

Technology

Treasury

Legal

Compliance

Operations

Personal Banking Risks

Total

Number, 2014

12

107

0

148

44

4

2

1

17

0

335

Number, 2015

12

80

19

136

53

4

2

2

17

3

328

Management of Providers

Requirements demanded to Providers

• All providers of Banco Regional that provide 
permanent services need to have an account 
(Checking Account or Savings Account); exceptions 
must be authorized by the Managers of the 
contracting areas. 

• If the provider is not a client, whether it is an 
individual or a legal person, and presents invoices 

every month for amounts that exceed 26 minimum 
daily wages, it should have detailed basic information 
in the List of Requirements for Providers. 

Instructions

• If the provider is not a Bank client, the 
documentation is sent to the Department of 
Compliance for a review of similar data to the 
requested information for the opening of accounts. 

• The verification of the contract and the advice on 
it is requested to the Department of Legal Counsel, 
for which the file is sent for review (Similar contracts 
signed previously and Main contracts in the event of 
analysis of Addenda or Annexes). 

Basic clauses of compliance for Bank contracts

• Clear identification of signatories (authorized 
signatures, powers of attorney, etc.)
• Object (including Scope of the Agreed Service/
Quality Clause)
• Prices
• Terms

• Duties and Obligations
• Penalty clause
• Confidentiality
• Jurisdiction: Preferably, the jurisdiction of 
Encarnación
• Termination
 
Important options

• Commitment from providers (which may include 
penalties for non-compliance)

• Automatic renewal clause (recommended for 
permanent providers)

• Services offered by the provider are annually 
assessed on clear criteria (Quality Ratio, Scope of 
Agreed Service, among others)

Preference for the hiring of local providers

Among the practices for purchases, Regional 
gives priority to local providers with the purpose of 
providing opportunities to companies of the country, 

as long as they get to mix quality, knowledge and 
adequate prices. 

Physical security with KPI

In 2015, the area of Providers has been incorporated 
to the organizational chart, which is in charge of 
overseeing aspects that are fundamental to the 
management: cost, quality and risk. These three 
aspects are related to the analysis of the provider 
in the market, products and services provided and 
projections. 

This model allowed to know some more from each 
provider on their processes of internal training, the 
education of their employees and the compliance 
with the other clients. 

Additionally, since 2013, a system of quality control of 
services or KPI (Key Performance Information) has 
been implemented. The model of control defined by 
the parties requires to improve its capacity directly 
and indirectly through new models of management 
and training of staff. 
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4.4 OUR SOCIAL 
AND ENVIRONMENTAL ACTIONS

In our ties with society, we point to promoting those 
initiatives that support the social and economic 
development of the country and which have as little 
negative impact as possible in natural resources 
upon their implementation. 

We seek to get to the largest number of beneficiaries 
with projects that provide added value, jobs and 
opportunities for young people and entrepreneurs 
so they can develop their abilities and innovative 
projects, respectively. 

We will now present the actions in 2015. 

“Lactario” Program in the Paediatric 
Hospital of Encarnación 

Banco Regional supports the “Lactario” Program of 
the Paediatric Hospital of Encarnacion. The service 
of Lactario is part of the integral treatment of 
hospitalized patients and the external nutrition office 
and it is aimed at patients that need to improve their 
nutritional state and lack the means for it. 

In 2015, the patients that were provided care were 
100, with an average of 8 patients/families per 
month that received, during their stay at the hospital, 
formulas, cereals, iron and vitamins, reducing 
the expenses for the families and the risks of 
complications. 
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The ambulatory care of the program added up to 700 
patients in this year, with an average of 50 children 
under the age of 1 benefited every month and 
who received assistance in their nutrition and the 
assessment every fortnight, as well as an average 
of between 1.5 to 3.5 kg of infant formula, according 
to their age and nutritional requirements. The 
treatment was complemented with iron treatment of 
all patients of 3-months of age and zinc and cereals 
treatment for not-hungry patients with a prognosis of 
malnutrition. 

All of these represented an approximate monthly 
cost of PYG 150,000 to PYG 300,000 per patient, 
according to their age and nutritional state. 

The contribution of Banco Regional allowed to take 
care of 700 families benefited by the program in 
2015, which equals the number of kids and allows a 
gradual improvement in their nutritional state and 
their quality of life. 

Sustainable Finances Desk

In 2012, Regional and other three main banks of 
the country decided to join their efforts to create a 
platform of voluntary collaboration to face social and 
environmental risks to which their management is 
exposed every day. As of 2015, 7 Banks participate in 
this desk, called Sustainable Finances Desk. 

The Sustainable Finances Desk promotes the 
responsibility of the financial sector in the support 
and strengthening of a sustainable economy, 
considering the leadership in the joined efforts of all 
interested parties: clients, employees, authorities, 
NGOs and the general public, when facing risks and 
taking advantage of the opportunities in sustainable 
risks in Paraguay. 

In that regard, the following strategic objectives were 
proposed: 

1. Governability and sustainability
2. Good social and environmental practices
3. Commitment with sustainability
4. Standardized implementation of social and 
environmental risks
5. Mitigation of the impact
6. Participation in local and global initiatives
7. Promote the initiative of the Desk
8. Development of sustainable financial products and 
services
 

Main Achievements and Activities 

• Signing of the framework agreement of 
cooperation with the Secretariat for the Environment
• Contact with the Superintendency of Banks of 
Paraguay
• Continuous works on the Standards of the 
Sustainable Finances Desk
• Strengthening of the Desk
• New allies and contacts
• ASOBAN: links with the Committee on Corporate 
Social Responsibility and Sustainability
• Contact with AFD
• Participation in calls with UNEP-FI
• Responsible Soybean Desk

Activities in 2015

• Meeting “Towards sustainability: An actual vision of 
Agribusiness”
• Conference “The business of sustainability in 
agricultural and livestock production” in Expo 
Mariano Roque Alonso
• Workshops on Environmental and Social Risk 
Analysis – UNEP FI
• Participation in the International Event: Forum on 
Sustainable Finances – Lima, Peru
• Co-organization and presentation in the Seminar 
“Sustainable Finances: new incentives in the 
international and local financial scenario”, promoted 
by Fundación Moisés Bertoni and the U.S. Embassy. 
• Presentation in the 2nd Regional Seminar 
on Corporate Social Responsibility “Building 
sustainability – Challenges for Companies in the 
East”, organized by Asociación de Empresarios 
Cristianos/ADEC [Association of Christian 
Businessmen]
• Participation and Co-organization of the Week of 
Sustainability (CII/IABD)
• Presentation in the event for the creation of the 
Task Force of the Round Table on Responsible 
Soybean (RTRS)

Challenges

1. Long-term sustainability of the Sustainable 
Finances Desk
2. Consolidating standardization between members
3. Strengthening alliances with regulators and 
developing courses of action
4. Strategic plan against the effects of climate 
change in agricultural and livestock production
5. Launch and implementation of Sector Guidelines
6. Mechanisms to obtain AFD green lines, feasibility 
studies of international organizations
7. Consolidation of the implementation of GIS tools 
– Satellite Monitoring adjusted to the needs of the 
Banks
8. Set concrete goals to reduce and/or compensate 
negative impacts and the creation of positive impacts

Plan of Action 2016

1. Improving the conditions of governability and 
formalities of the Sustainable Finances Desk
2. Strengthening the management of the Desk to 
energize the actions towards overcoming challenges
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05 
ECONOMIC 
AND FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

The current local and international financial situation is a fact that directly 
affects the work of the Bank. This is why we do a continuous monitoring 
of each indicator, to anticipate or prevent unfavourable situations that may 
impact our clients negatively. 

We seek to provide the highest levels of security and tranquillity to our 
clients with technical expertise that has been internationally certified, as 
well as to provide concrete evidence to the regulatory compliance bodies. 
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5.1 ECONOMIC ANALYSIS 
AND OUTLOOK*

World and Regional Overview

In 2015, the global economy exhibited moderate 
growth levels. On one hand, advanced economies 
showed higher increases than previous years; 
while lower increases were observed in developing 
economies. 

United States of America

After registering a 0.6% and 3.9% growth rate during 
the first two quarters, the US GDP increased by 
2.0% in the third quarter, mainly driven by family 
consumer spending, which enjoyed lower gasoline 
prices and improved performance in the labor and 
housing markets. Around 2.3 million jobs were 
created in 2015, pushing the unemployment rate to 
the lowest level in 7 years (5.0%).

Accordingly, the US Federal Reserve announced its 
first rate increase from 0.25% to 0.50%. Aside from 
the fact that the hike was largely expected by the 
market, it proved to be an indicator of American 
economy’s strength. This marked the first increase in 
10 years.

Currencies and Commodities

At international level, the US Dollar remains strong 
with regards to the most traded currencies, including 
those of emerging economies. This is mainly due 
to the US economy recovery and to the realized 
expectation regarding the rise of the Federal Reserve 
rate. In 2015, the dollar appreciated 10% with 
respect to the euro, 5% with the Chinese yuan, 1% 
with the yen, 5% with regards to the pound and 19% 
with the ruble. The USD/Euro exchange rate reached 
a historical low of 1.05 US$/€ during the first week 
of March and remained around 1.1 US$/€ in the past 
few months.

Regarding agricultural commodities, the USDA 
report on offer and demand maintains estimations 
of abundant offer. A production of 320.1 million tons 
and final stock of 82.6 million is estimated  for the 
soybean campaign 2015/2016, both figures exceed 
those registered on the 2014/2015 campaign. For 
corn worldwide, USDA projected a harvest of 973.9 
million tons, below the 1,008.7 million from the 
previous campaign; while final stock was estimated 
in 211.8 million, above the figures for 2014/2015. 
Wheat production for the 2015/2016 period may have 
a slight rise, reaching 734.9 million tons. Final stock 
was estimated at 229.9 million tons.

This report further confirms that offer will be 
abundant worldwide. And other factors affecting 
prices come into play, i.e. the exchange rate and 
the rise of interest rate in USA, both of which might 
push commodities prices downwards, due to the 
loss of attractiveness of raw material market, 
where investors risks may be greater, especially in 
times like these where there is higher offer after 
two consecutive cycles of major harvests in cereals 
and oil seeds by major producers and exporters 
worldwide. Besides the aforementioned, the 
uncertainty regarding other major economies such 
as China and Europe may be added.

In terms of soybean, there is a downward trend, 
having the expectation that the South American 
harvest may hit a record high, and the fact that the 
large stocks of Argentina may finally be released to 
the market. 

Europe

The Euro Zone remains on a slow path towards 
economic recovery with a year-on-year rise in GDP 
equivalent to 1.3%, 1.6% and 1.6% during the first 
three semesters of the year. It should be noted that 
in each of the three periods all economies registered 
positive figures, except for Greece, which posted a 
negative result between July and September.

Unemployment rates remain at high levels, 10.7% 
as of October. Countries such as Spain and Greece 
register figures above 20%. As in all other large 
economies, the pressure on prices remains low 
which constitutes a major concern for monetary 
authorities.

« In 2015, 
the global economy exhibited 

moderate growth levels »

World USA Euro Zone Japan

Source: Investor with data from the IMF
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An important fact for the regional agricultural 
market was the announcement by the new 
Argentinian Government about ending the export 
duties regime for all cereals, sunflower seeds, 
regional economies, meat, fisheries, and dairy 
sectors. The exception applies to the soybean sector, 
which as for now, shall be the only activity subject to 
withholdings and a tax rate of 30% for unprocessed 
grain and 27% for soybean meal and oil shall be 
applied. Markets have not registered any significant 
change following these announcements.

After the steep fall in the price of oil (petroleum) 
in the second half of 2014, prices exhibited a slight 
increase during the first six months of the current 
year, standing at around 60 US$/barrel; but then a 
downward trend was seen again,  standing at around 
44 US$/barrel and in the last two months of the year, 
reaching a price below 40 US$/barrel during the 
second fortnight of December,  something that did 
not  happen for more than 10 years .

Brazil and Argentina

After a -1.5% and -3.0% reduction in GDP during the 
first and second quarters of 2015, the Brazilian GDP 
reached an output level of US$ 432 billion during the 
third quarter, falling 4.0% regarding the same period 
in 2014, the sixth consecutive quarter featuring a 
negative economic result. 

The industrial sector posted the worst figures, with a 
6.7% year-on-year decrease, mainly due to a -11.3% 
change in the manufacturing subsector related to a 
strong reduction in car sales (-27.3%). 

On the demand side, private consumption decreased, 
again, at a rate of 4.5% against the third quarter of 
2014, the largest year-on-year reduction in the last 

« At international level, the US 
Dollar remains strong with regards 

to the most traded currencies »
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20 years. Government spending fell 0.4% and private 
investment -15%, mainly because of a reduction in 
imports, as well as cuts in the production of capital 
goods and construction. 

At the same time, ending 2015, inflation reached 
10.7%, more than twice the target rate of the Central 
Bank and well above the targeted ceiling. The 
benchmark interest rate (SELIC) was held at 14.25%. 

As a consequence of the political and economic 
uncertainty, towards mid-December, the risk rating 
agency Fitch lowered again Brazil’s rating (already 
done that in October) this time around, to junk bond 
status. In September, Standard & Poors (S&P), did 
the same, i.e. revoked the country’s investment 
grade status after seven years of awarding such 
rating. On the other hand, in early December, 
Moody’s Agency announced it could cut Brazil’s 
sovereign rating, and thus, losing its investment 
grade on all three agencies. It should be noted that 
in financial markets, investment grade ratings work 
as a “safety check” and are solely awarded to low 
risk economies.

Local Overview

Economic Activity

According to preliminary data from the Central Bank 
of Paraguay (BCP), in 2015 the GDP grew at a pace 
of 3.0%. While this performance is below the 4.5% 
economic potential, it must be noted that the relative 
resilience of Paraguayan economy to the regional 
vulnerabilities, which involves the downturn of major 
economies such as Brazil, and the impact in terms of 
trading due to a decrease in the price of agricultural 
commodities. Despite such events, while a lower 
economic dynamism was noted during the second 
semester of 2015, Paraguayan economy ended the 
year with still solid economic metrics.

 The main drivers included:

• Good level of agricultural production, which 
increased by 5%. With soybean production below 2014 
and 2013 figures, agricultural increase was driven by 
a high level of corn harvest.

In Argentina, 2015 has not brought about 
considerable economic changes with respect to the 
previous year. The parallel exchange rate exhibited 
less volatility and the difference (spread) with 
regards to the official rate shrunk. During the second 
half of the year the “Dollar Blue” was pressured 
upwards and broke the 16 P$/US$ barrier for the 
first time since its conception.

Presidential elections were held in October, which 
resulted in a tie and led to the first Presidential 
ballotage in the country’s history. In the end, 
Mauricio Macri came out as the winner, putting an 
end to twelve years of Kirchner mandate. The new 
President received an economy with high levels of 
inflation and low to zero economic growth, aside 
from an overvalued official currency and several 
exchange rate controls. Low levels of international 
reserves and an escalating fiscal deficit –mainly 
financed by the Central Bank. All of this keeping 
fresh in the memory,  the conflicts with the 
“holdout bonds”, and the need to coming into an 
understanding with such bonds in order to gain 
access to capital market.

• Tough year for the cattle and livestock sector, with a 
growth rate of -1.8% given lower international prices.

• Expanding industrial sector (2.0%), with growth 
in exports from maquila and pharmaceutical 
subsectors. 

• Positive trend in services, more specifically finance 
(12%), as well as hotels and restaurants (6%).

• Rise in construction (6%), driven mainly by private 
investment projects. 

• Rising levels of private investment.

The Paraguayan economy experienced one of the 
highest growth rates in Latin America, where a 
variation of -0.3% was observed, according to the 
International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) estimates. For 
2016, the BCP estimates a GDP growth of around 
3.2%, which still has macroeconomic foundations 
aligned with a sustainable profile in the medium 
term.

GDP Growth Rate

Source: Investor with data from the BCP
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Monetary Sector

In 2015, consumer prices index expanded at a 
rate of 3.1%, below the 4.5% medium term core 
target established by the BCP. No considerable 
inflationary pressures were observed. There were 
months where Products such as food, durable 
goods, housing and tourism registered an increase 
in prices, but in several months a decrease in prices 
was also registered. The main factor which could 
be expected to impose some inflationary pressure 
was the exchange rate, but in the end it didn’t have 
a significant impact on prices of the basic food 
basket, due to the influx of consumer goods from 
neighboring countries, which registered a greater 
relative exchange rate depreciation. 

After decreasing during the second semester of 
2014, average NPL rate of the financial system was 
up during 2015, reaching 2.6% in December. Banks 
posted an NPL level of 2.5%, over the 1.8% from 
past twelve months; while financial houses exhibited 
5.1%, above the 4.2% from December, 2014. It may 
be considered, however, that this ratio is even better 
than in other economies in the region and it is a 
reflection of a better relative quality of the loans 
portfolio.

Regarding Banking System indicators, on the other 
hand, liquidity ratios presented less significant 
decreases than those observed in December, 2014, 
registering a decrease in the relationship between 
Cash and Banks over Deposits from 42.2% to 40.2%, 
while that of Cash and Banks over Liabilities from 
33.7% to 31.2%. Profitability ratios are reflecting 
values which experienced a slightly decrease in 

Financial Sector

As of the end of December, 2015, deposits in the 
financial system reached Gs. 76.8 trillion (US$ 13.3 
billion), a 11% increase from the previous year value. 
Net credits of the Financial System (banks and 
finance houses), on the other hand, registered a Gs. 
73.5 trillion balance (US$ 12.7 billion), this is 21% 
higher than the value shown a year before in nominal 
terms  and 17% in real terms.

Faced with this economic scenario, and also 
considering the external context and the 
performance of certain sectors locally, during its 
meetings in March, April, June and July, the Central 
Bank Monetary Policy Committee reduced its 
monetary policy rate from January’s 6.75% to July’s 
5.75%, which remained unchanged until the end 
of the year. Money demand, more specifically M1 
(currency in circulation plus deposits), registered 
an annual growth rate of 3.1% in real terms, much 
lower than the 10.4% from the previous year. On 
another note, Monetary Policy Instruments exhibited 
a balance of Gs. 4.3 trillion, with a 6.16% interest 
rate on the last operation.

Inflation is expected to remain relatively stable 
during 2016. The Central Bank will maintain its 
inflation core target, within the margin of 4.5% ±2%.

Evolution of inflation

Anual Inflation Target

Source: Investor with data from the BCP
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comparison with the results of 2014, where there 
was a ROA of 2.3% and ROE of 27.8%.  

Regarding interest rates, in November 2015, the 
weighted average of lending interest rates for local 
currency operations closed at 18.3%, below the 
20.5% from the previous year and that of December 
2014 (20.5%). This decrease in the average rate is 
due to a strong fall in the credit card interest rates 
with the enforcement of the Law Nº 5,476, which 
imposes a maximum limit over such rates. 

Deposit rates average, on the other hand, reached 
5.4%, almost the same as the 5.5% and 5.4% in 
both November and December, 2014. As for foreign 
currency rates, the lending rates average during 
November was 9.3%, higher than the 8.1% from 
November 2014 and 7.8% from December 2014. As to 
deposit rates, on the other hand, the Dollar average 
remained unchanged at 2.7%.

Year on year total credit growth

Source: Investor with data from the BCP
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It is noteworthy the nominal impact of the exchange 
rate depreciation against the dollar in such year-
on-year variation, considering that about 50% of 
credits on the banking system are in American Dollar 
denomination.  Certainly, by extracting this nominal 
impact, the banks’ credit portfolio expanded by 10.8% 
during 2015, which we consider a prudent increase 
against same 19.8% ratio observed in 2014.
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Source: Investor with data from the BCP
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Current Account and Foreign Trade

In 2015, current account maintained its surplus 
trend, reflecting a surplus of 2.2% over GDP.
 
Paraguayan external trade has been negatively 
affected by the delicate economic situation in several 
Latin American economies. Lower demand levels of 
countries which are experiencing a steep downturn 
plus a fall on commodity prices had a negative 
impact on exports. In the case of Paraguay’s major 

exports categories, the price effect was higher that 
the decrease of the demand. In absolute terms, 
from January to December, the imports fall over 
same period in 2014 exceeded the exports behavior, 
thus, the deficit on the trade balance (exports minus 
registered imports) is lower than a year ago reaching 
a level of US$ -1.17 billion.

In 2015, exports amounted to US$ 8.36 billion, a 
13.4% decrease relative to 2014. During this time 
period, 7.8 million tons of soybean and sub-products 

(meal and oil) were exported for a total of US$ 2.94 
billion, 0.6% and 24% less than the figures of a 
year ago, respectively. The good results from the 
corn campaign led to a 34% increase in exports 
ton volume, but prices were even lower than those 
observed a year ago. During the same time period, 
bovine meat exports totaled 300 thousand tons, 
valued at US$ 1.17 billion, a 3% fall in terms of 
volume and -14% with respect to prices.

Regarding imports, at December closing they 
reached a total of US$ 9.53 billion, a 16% drop with 
respect to the same time period in 2014. Almost 
every single one of the main categories exhibited 
an imports decrease, the most important of which 
include intermediate goods (gasoline, diesel and 
gas), capital goods (agricultural machinery, desktop 
machines) and non-durable consumer goods (food 
and drinks).

Exports and Imports

Source: Investor with data from the BCP
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Exchange Rate

In 2015, the exchange rate has shown variations, but 
maintaining a strong upward trend. Throughout the 
first semester, the Guaraní remained as one of the 
least devaluated currencies with respect to the US 
Dollar, but towards the end of such time period the 
behavior resembled that of its regional peers. 

In June, the exchange rate reached 5,200 Gs./
US$, a level not seen since March of 2009. With the 

onset of August, the exchange rate exhibited much 
more volatility and a pronounced upward trend. 
During such month, the dollar went from 5,170 to 
5,400 Gs./US$, the largest monthly appreciation 
of the year. Due to this volatility, the Central Bank 
sold, on net within the financial system, US$ 291.7 
million (monthly all time high) in an effort to control 
the sudden variations of the exchange rate. In 
September, the US Dollar beat 5,600 Gs./US$ –level 
not observed since October 2006– and remained 
there until the close of October, with the highest 
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Fiscal Sector

At 2015’s closing, the Central Government registered 
revenues of Gs. 26.5 trillion, a 7.2% increase 
from 2014. Tax revenues –which represent 70% of 
total income– rose by 5.8%, lower than the 12% 
prediction from the Budget. The Customs National 
Directorate, on the other hand, exhibited a small 
positive variation. Central Government expenditures 
amounted to Gs. 25.3 trillion, a 10.5% increase 
from the previous year. By analyzing by type of 

expenditure, the execution of current expenses –
which represent 80% of total government spending- 
rose by 8.8%, while physical investment increased by 
14.1%. 

In December 2015, the budget deficit reached 1.8% 
of GDP, above the maximum level established by the 
Law of Fiscal Responsibility (LFR) (-1.5%), clearly 
influenced by a lower dynamics of GDP over the 
expected growth at year’s onset. It should be noted 
that the Law for the National Budget of 2015 stated 
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monthly average of 5,637 Gs./US$, the highest of 
the year. During the first few days of November, the 
exchange rate’s rapid appreciation slowed a bit, 
only to continue rising up until 5,680 Gs./US$. In 
December, once again, it continued its upward trend, 
reaching a maximum of 5,850 Gs./US$, with an 
average of 5,800 Gs./US$. 

In an effort to “soften” the exchange rate volatility, 
throughout the year the Central Bank sold, on net, 
US Dollars on the financial market. In 2015 total 
sales accounted for US$ 1.54 billion, an all-time high 
for a year. The sale of dollars on the financial market 
by the Central Bank exhibited a rapid increase 
towards the second semester of 2015; money from 

the country’s International Reserves, which despite 
this policy, ended the year with a balance considered 
as suitable for supporting the external payments 
ability of the country, at levels which were higher 
than the total external public debt, and that equals 
20% of the GDP, approx. 

In 2016 the influx of capital from the issue of bonds 
will be lower than that of 2015, which would lead the 
Central Bank to use more actively its benchmark 
interest rate, along with more moderate exchange 
rate interventions, in order to induce a less 
volatile behavior of the currency market, and less 
accommodating for the local liquidity conditions.

that the debt incurred through the issue of sovereign 
bonds is to be included in the budget balance 
equation –which yields a deficit compliant with the 
LFR.

On another note, as of 2015’s closing, the public debt 
totaled US$ 5.43 billion, equivalent to 18.9% of GDP, 
73% of which was held by external creditors.

Outlook

• The 2015/2016 soybean campaign is expected to 
exhibit good levels of rainfall due to “El Niño”, but 
also:

- Climatic variability, with possible extreme 
temperatures.
- Severe and irregular rainfall. Heavy storms, 
tornadoes and hail expected.
- Higher average productivity in soybean 
harvest, which may boost agricultural GDP.

• Farmers profitability margins may be very small 
again due to lower commodity prices and costs which 
have not fallen at the same rate.

- Farmers may eliminate complimentary crops 
given the lack of contribution to lot profitability 
and the greater risk they generate.

- A higher relative productivity may partially 
lessen the negative effect from low prices.

• Volume of beef exports will continue performing 
well, due to an expected growth in slaughter rates, 
rising exports to Chile, re-entering into the EU and 
the recovery of certain markets.  Prices, on the other 
hand, will remain relatively low. 

- The immediate objective still is to gain 
access to more competitive markets. 
Considering that Russia is still under financial 
hardships and will probably keep low demand 
levels.

• Borders will continue to influence general trading, 
with negative impacts linked to the decrease in 
the economic activity in Brazil and its currency 
devaluation; as well as all decisions and measures 
made by the new Argentinian Government.

• Inflation will remain low, near the target 
established by the Central Bank (4.5% ± 2%).

• Considering that in 2016 the dollar supply and 
demand levels would be similar to those of 2015 
and that, the influence of the regional currencies 
behavior and a predictable, even though more 
moderate intervention from the Central Bank in the 
local foreign exchange market, in 2016 the exchange 
rate Gs./U$S would still be facing a strong pressure 
upwards. At year end, the exchange rate is expected 
to reach Gs./US$ 6,320 (± 200).

• Even though one can still observe an expectation 
issue among the entrepreneurs, which may hinder 
the pace of private investments, this may be 
reversed through clear and specific measures by the 
Government.

- The Government needs to carry out the 
announced infrastructure project in order to 
increase economic activity.

- During 2016, for corporate purposes an 
inertial dynamics will be maintained in the 
construction sector, and in a lower degree 
throughout 2017.

• Given all of the above, we estimate that during 2016, 
GDP would rise in a margin between 2.5%-3.7%, 
which is in line with the 3.2% estimation from the 
Paraguayan Central Bank.
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5.2 EVOLUTION OF THE MAIN MANAGEMENT INDCATORS 
OF BANCO REGIONAL

5.2.1 Analysis of the Financial Management

a) Evolution of the Loan Portfolio

As of December 31 of

In millions of Guaranies (unless stated otherwise)

As of the End of the Year

Indicators

Market Share

Exchange Rate (PYG per US$) 4478 4224 4585 4629 5807

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Assets

Loans

Deposits*

Shareholders’ Equity

Income

Number of Branches**

Number of Employees

Return on Equity (ROE)

Return on Assets (ROA)

Financial Margin

Allowances of the Year

Coverage of Allowances on Past-due Portfolio

Shareholders’ Equity as Percentage of Assets

Efficiency

Defaults

Deposits

Loans

Assets

Shareholders’ Equity

Paid-Up Capital

Number of Banks in the Financial System (units)

8,570,325

6,108,307

6,274,854

747,792

140,807

39

679

24.56%

1.74%

403,541

-52,841

132.64%

8.73%

57.22%

1.79%

15.85%

18.22%

15.76%

13.22%

16.55%

15

15.53%

17.45%

15.25%

11.89%

16.25%

16

16.23%

17.07%

15.75%

11.59%

15.61%

16

14.80%

17.02%

15.34%

11.31%

17.13%

16

13.97%

16.69%

14.43%

11.42%

16.23%

17

22.19%

1.65%

411,921

-79,561

115.50%

8.97%

55.74%

2.48%

20.36%

1.32%

442,099

-75,293

119.26%

7.75%

56.89%

2.47%

15.01%

1.05%

486,533

-93,782

100.01%

7.95%

59.80%

2.20%

21.93%

1.50%

651,214

-177,110

122.35%

8.23%

47.64%

2.36%

11,984,800

8,087,198

8,830,002

928,460

150,679

40

711

9,214,818

6,656,769

6,853,675

826,609

141,137

39

685

13,712,004

9,707,664

9,339,094

1,090,253

134,656

38

689

15,306,558

11,787,765

10,211,720

1,259,462

211,454

38

680

*Not including accrued interests

**Including the Headquarters in the total

Placements per Economic Sector / Dec 2015
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b) Financial Investments / Dec 2015

Investments

Exchange Rate US$

Exchange Rate Euros 

Composition of the Portfolio in Guaranies – Balances in PYG

Treasury Bonds

Fixed-term deposits in Other Institutions

LRM

Composition of the Portfolio in Dollars – Balances in USD

Fixed-term deposits in Other Institutions

5,807

6,337
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c) Evolution of the Deposit Portfolio d) Evolution of Assets

Distribution of the Deposit Portfolio per Term

%

Fixed-term, 51%
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Distribution of the Deposit Portfolio per Currency

%

Dollars, 60%
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*Not including accrued interests
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e) Evolution of the Shareholders’ Equity
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 f) Evolution of Results

g) Evolution of Defaults

5.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.3.1 Balance sheet as of december 31, 2015     

Loans to nonfinancial sector

Loans to government sector

Unrealized valuation earnings

Accrued interests

Allowances

Private securities

Assets acquired in credit recovery

Other investments

Income from investments in the private sector

Allowances

   262,772,736,620 

 1,672,119,884 

 (6,322,268,830)

 13,210,407,955 

 (158,612,502,451)

 112,720,493,178 

     6,693,888,916 

 149,480,777,719 

 3,774,491 

 1 

 (8,769,240,392)

 147,409,200,735 

     6,049,166,575 

 36,228,811,836 

 3,008,850 

 -   

 (10,127,753,563)

 32,153,233,698 
 70,888,661,398  73,585,082,622 

 8,763,048,641  11,742,102,557 

 15,306,557,641,248  13,712,004,067,355 

     201,396,289,226 

 2,552,519,002 

 (1,075,890,197)

 9,606,545,640 

 (130,582,961,979)

 81,896,501,692 

 c.18 

 c.7 

 c.6.2 

 c.7 

 c.6.3 

 c.8 

 c.8 

 c.7 

 c.8 
c.9

c.10

 c.6.4  68,314,737,164  56,415,672,975 Other receivables

Nonperforming loans

Investments

Property, plant and equipment

Deferred charges

Total assets

Cash

Central Bank of Paraguay

Other financial institutions

Checks and other documents to be offset

Accrued interests

Allowances

Other financial institutions

Transactions to be settled 

Loans for overdrafts 

Accrued interests

Allowances 

Loans to private sector

Receivables from deferred letters of credit

Transactions to be settled 

Loans to government sector

Unrealized valuation earnings

Accrued interests

Allowances

 302,170,670,798 

 1,836,895,255,696 

 362,159,611,533 

 71,029,853,604 

 869,153,340 

 (2,750,353)

 2,573,121,794,618 

  569,072,540,268 

 -   

 -   

 12,574,291,630 

 (902,883,770)

580,743,948,128 

   10,741,113,748,534 

 118,282,475,861 

 52,072,144,854 

 10,127,381,717 

 (4,042,402,700)

 231,178,401,734 

 (180,192,370,436)

 10,968,539,379,564 

 8,966,770,857,220 

 71,057,392,472 

 75,089,889,573 

 6,499,011,725 

 (1,189,259,073)

 158,077,623,786 

 (82,322,978,224)

 9,193,982,537,479 

   756,273,196,664 

 87,459,878,258 

 4,251,611 

 21,261,218,718 

 (663,257,870)

 864,335,287,381 

 247,773,695,991 

 1,748,780,022,138 

 235,031,278,343 

 118,440,281,759 

 825,474,163 

 (2,223,073)

 2,350,848,529,321 

 c.3 

 c.7 

 c.18 

c.7

 c.6.1 

c.4  776,056,377,822  1,047,045,119,630 

Assets

Cash and Banks

Government and Private Securities

Performing loans financial sector

Performing loans nonfinancial sector

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014Note

2.36%

1.71%

1.79%

2.09%

2.48%

2.01%

2.47%

1.84%

2.20%
2.47%

dec-11 dec-12 dec-13 dec-14 dec-15

Banco Regional Banking Sector

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein

Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year. (Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)
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Central Bank of Paraguay

Deposits from other banks

Correspondents - deferred letters of credit

Loans from financial institutions

Compensation ATM operations pending

Bonds issued abroad

Transactions to be settled 

Accrued interests 

Deposits - Private Sector

Deposits - Public Sector

Other obligations

Debentures and bonds issued in circulation

Transactions to be settled 

Accrued interests

Capital

Shares of common stock

Shares of preferred stock

Non-Capitalized Contributions

Revaluation reserve

Legal reserve

Profit for the year

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

c.15.1

c.15.1

c.11.a)

c.18

c.14

b.5

c.12 f

D

E

E

c.17

 8,346,150,838,966 

 1,417,465,420,401 

 57,258,095,720 

 71,486,067,980 

 52,559,226,882 

 91,091,891,005 

 10,036,011,540,954 

 784,946,400,000 

 534,946,400,000 

 250,000,000,000 

 17,339,360,000 

 33,635,469,877 

 212,086,410,559 

 -   

 211,454,136,306 

 1,259,461,776,742 

15,306,557,641,248 

936,306,695,566

14,217,268,648,602

927,632,296,686

16,776,075,858,045

 687,455,800,000 

 437,455,800,000 

 250,000,000,000 

 53,365,960,000 

 31,376,860,951 

 183,398,002,207 

 -   

 134,655,959,145 

 1,090,252,582,303 

 13,712,004,067,355 

 43,702,621,002 

 25,178,018,986 

 14,047,095,864,506 

 60,837,995,281 

 14,404,710,176 

 12,621,751,485,052 

 7,516,227,808,722 

 1,235,309,087,437 

 70,349,188,754 

 94,156,162,000 

 75,849,654,796 

 81,404,670,340 

 9,073,296,572,049 

  12,367,153,185 

 448,103,649,492 

 117,167,200,727 

 1,523,465,457,095 

 20,113,694,988 

 1,742,073,000,000 

 5 

 78,913,528,072 

 3,942,203,683,564 

   11,440,533,475 

 587,556,869,648 

 70,450,292,410 

 1,257,078,113,626 

 8,039,608,417 

 1,388,700,000,000 

 86,973,115,207 

 62,973,674,763 

 3,473,212,207,546 

 c.15.1

c.11.b)

c.18

c.14

Liabilities

Financial liabilities financial sector

Financial liabilities nonfinancial sector

Equity

Contingency and memorandum accounts

Total contingencies accounts 

Total memorandum accounts 

Other liabilities

Accruals

Total liabilities

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014Note 5.3.2 Statement of income for the year ended  december 31, 2015     
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year. (Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes) 

From performing loans - Financial sector

From performing loans - Nonfinancial sector

From nonperforming loans

From income and listed price differences of government securities

From financial liabilities - Financial sector

From financial liabilities - Nonfinancial sector

From valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency 

Additions

Reversals

Income from services

Expenses from services

Gain for exchange and arbitrage operation

Gain from other receivables

Income from operating leasing

Other income

Salaries and social securities

General expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortization of deferred charges 

Others

Valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreign currency  - net

Extraordinary gains

Extraordinary losses 

Gains

Losses

  Income Tax

Net profit for the year

 114,890,551,394 

 1,046,297,285,492 

 19,459,584,644 

 37,650,655,843 

 1,218,298,077,373 

 f.2 

 d.3 

 f.4 

 c.7 

 c.7 

 c.9

f.2

  (91.024.585.096)

 (476.059.814.232)

 (2.408.039.227)

  (569.492.438.555)

 (679,962,671,127)

 502,853,085,550 

(177,109,585,577)

 136,896,629,074 

 (28,572,262,064)

 108,324,367,010 

  35,975,637,895 

 69,886 

 -   

 1,927,621,175 

 37,903,328,956 

 (185,492,069,890)

 (145,189,773,571)

 (13,870,672,641)

 (4,560,476,909)

 (25,366,786,489)

 (14,433,328,664)

 (388,913,108,164)

 5,267,400,785 

 (3,992,008,222)

 1,275,392,563 

 394,638,738 

 (804,913,290)

 (410,274,552)

 (18,421,622,748)  (8,786,082,611)

 3,922,842,366 

 (9,611,775,942)

 (5,688,933,576)

 695,202,436 

 (1,894,167,588)

 (1,198,965,152)

 (178,885,613,130)

 (146,091,625,220)

 (13,119,470,810)

 (3,267.856,317)

 (27,024,483,819)

 (1,599,279,739)

 (369,988,329,035)

  25,844,130,462 

 370,089,769 

 52,380,952 

 1,700,847,035 

 27,967,448,218 

 (484,373,460,615)

 390,591,549,302

(93,781,911,313)

  118,114,812,777 

 (16,431,762,509)

 101,683,050,268 

 648,805,638,818 

 471,696,053,241 

 580,020,420,251 

 229,010,641,043 

 229,875,759,054 

 211,454,136,306 

 150,329,940,484 

 143,442,041,756 

 134,655,959,145 

 484,449,682,346 

 390,667,771,033 

 492,350,821,301 

 (74.751.818.831)

 (478.559.990.736)

 (2.082.922.868)

 (555.394.732.435)

  137,868,885,345 

 845,867,012,011 

 15,134,270,415 

 40,974,247,010 

 1,039,844,414,781 

Financial income

Financial expenses

Financial income before allowances

Financial profit after allowances

Gross profit

Other operating income

Other operating expenses 

Net operating profit

Extraordinary gains and losses

Prior year adjustments

Profit for the year before income tax

Net income from services

Allowances

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014Note

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein
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5.3.3 Cash flows for the year ended december 31, 2015     
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year. (Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes) Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year. (Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes) 

Profit for the year

Depreciation of property, plant and quipment

Amortization of deferred charges

Increase in allowances

Accrual for income taxes

Accrued interests unpaid

Valuation of foreign currency accounts

Net value of disposal of property, plant and equipment

Reversal of allowances

Accrued interests not collected 

Net decrease (increase) in loans

Net increase in other receivables

Net (decrease) increase in financial liabilities

Net (decrease) increase in other liabilities

Net decrease in accruals

Income tax paid

Net decrease (increase) in government securities

Net increase in investments

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Net increase of deferred charges

Payment of dividends

Additional paid-in capital

Cash from  bonds issued abroad

Net cash flows (used in) generated by financing activities

Net increase in cash

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein

  211,454,136,306 

 80,309,376,989 

 186,467,439,101 

 (1,311,964,296,498)

 (43,424,268,351)

 13,870,672,641 

 4,560,476,909 

 679,962,671,127 

 18,421,622,748 

 170,005,419,077 

 16,841,367,891 

 906,289,830 

 904,568,520,223 

 (502,853,085,550)

 (299,169,385,807)

 (802,022,471,357)

 557,651,905,485 

 (9,525,553,750)

 (741,164,179,897)

 (24,621,768,335)

 (7,245,129,074)

 (8,786,082,612)

 (233,690,808,183)

 313,028,742,883 

 (115,157,948,468)

 (9,821,932,321)

 (1,581,422,993)

 (44,503,550,793)

 -   

 -   

 (44,503,550,793)

 222,273,265,297 

 2,350,848,529,321 

 2,573,121,794,618 

 (48,811,591,713)

 73,036,360,000 

 1,388,700,000,000 

 1.412.924.768.287 

 57,536,203,438 

 2,293,312,325,883 

 2,350,848,529,321 

 (15,130,587,281)

 (11,020,578,329)

 (13,238,831,096)

 (4,034,271,645)

 (1,489,100,389,902)

 (16,552,146,100)

 19,038,803,678 

 4,768,838,845 

 (3,942,249,160)

 -   

 (1,485,787,142,639)

 (390,591,549,302)

 (228,094,513,956)

 (618,686,063,258)

 13,119,470,810 

 3,267,856,317 

 484,373,460,615 

 8,786,082,611 

 144,378,345,103 

 3,682,202,606 

 245,532,192 

 657,852,950,254 

 134,655,959,145 

Cash flows from operating activities

Plus expenses not involving use of cash

Less income not involving cash inflow

Net cash flows generated by (used in) operating activities

Cash generated by (used in) used in investing activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014Note

c.9

c.7

f.4

c.9

c.7

c.9

5.3.4 Statement of changes in equity for the year ended december 31, 2015  

Concept
Capital

Shares of 
common stock

Shares of 
preferred stock

Non-capitalized 
contributions

Revaluation 
reserve

Legal 
reserve

Retained 
earnings 

(accumulated 
losses)

Profit (Loss) 
for the year

Balance as of December 31, 2013

Plus (minus):

Transfer of prior year results

Capitalization of earnings

Increase of capital

Issue premium

 Irrevocable contributions for future integ. of share

 Irrevocable contribution to share premium

Additions to legal reserve

Cash dividends - preferred shares

Cash dividends - common shares

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Profit for the year

Balance as of December 31, 2014

Plus (minus):

Transfer of prior year results

Capitalization of earnings

Capitalization of contributions

Capitalization of issue premium

Additions to legal reserve

Cash dividends - preferred shares

Cash dividends - common shares

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Profit for the year

Balance as of December 31, 2015

347,587,100,000

 - 

 70,198,300,000 

 19,670,400,000 

-

 - 

-

 -   

-

 -   

 - 

 - 

437,455,800,000

 - 

 61,464,000,000 

 13,405,700,000 

 22,620,900,000 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

534,946,400,000

250,000,000,000

 - 

 - 

-

-

 - 

-

 - 

-

 - 

 - 

 - 

250,000,000,000

 - 

 - 

 - 

-

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

250,000,000,000

-

 - 

 - 

-

 22,620,960,000 

 14,300,000,000 

 16,445,000,000 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 - 

 - 

53,365,960,000

 - 

 - 

 (13,405,700,000)

 (22,620,900,000)

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

17,339,360,000

28,465,474,948

 - 

 - 

-

-

 - 

-

 - 

 - 

 - 

 2,911,386,003 

 - 

31,376,860,951

 - 

 - 

 - 

-

 - 

 - 

 - 

 2,258,608,926 

 - 

33,635,469,877

151,729,072,467

 - 

 -   

-

-

 -   

-

 31,668,929,740 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

183,398,002,207

 - 

 - 

 - 

-

 28,688,408,352 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

212,086,410,559

-

 150,678,821,453 

 (70,198,300,000)

-

-

 -   

-

 (31,668,929,740)

 (45,000,000,000)

 (3,811,591,713)

 - 

 - 

 -   

 134,655,959,145 

 (61,464,000,000)

 - 

-

 (28,688,408,352)

 (40,000,000,000)

 (4,503,550,793)

 - 

 - 

-

150,678,821,453

 (150,678,821,453)

 - 

-

-

 - 

-

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 134,655,959,145 

134,655,959,145

 (134,655,959,145)

 - 

 - 

-

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 211,454,136,306 

211,454,136,306

928,460,468,868

 - 

 -   

 19,670,400,000 

 22,620,960,000 

 14,300,000,000 

 16,445,000,000 

 -   

 (45,000,000,000)

 (3,811,591,713)

 2,911,386,003 

 134,655,959,145 

1,090,252,582,303

 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 (40,000,000,000)

 (4,503,550,793)

 2,258,608,926 

 211,454,136,306 

1,259,461,776,742

Total

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein
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5.3.5 Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended on december 31, 2015
Presented for comparative purposes with the financial prior year. (Figures stated in Paraguayan guaranies)

A. Consideration by the shareholders’ meeting and purpose of preparation of these 
financial statements

The financial statements of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. (hereinafter referred as Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. or 
“the Entity” or “the Bank”) at December 31, 2015 will be considered by the General Assembly to be held in 
2016, within the period specified in the Bylaws and Article 1079 of the Civil Code.

The financial statements of the Bank at December 31, 2014 were approved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting held on April 25, 2015.

B. Basic information about the Bank

b.1 Legal status

Banco Regional Sociedad Anónima Emisora de Capital Abierto began doing business under the name of 
Banco Regional S.A. de Inversión y Fomento, authorized by Presidential Decree No. 4321 dated January 8, 
1990, and by the Central Bank of Paraguay (hereinafter referred as “Central Bank of Paraguay” or “BCP”) 
through Resolution No. 5, Record No. 11 dated February 13, 1991.

Through Resolution No. 3, Record No. 214, dated December 1, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Central 
Bank of Paraguay authorized Banco Regional S.A. de Inversión y Fomento to amend its Bylaws, as decided by 
Special Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 24, 1998, to change its original name to Banco Regional S.A.

Through Resolution No. 1, Record No. 96, dated November 19, 2008, the Board of Directors of the Central 
Bank of Paraguay authorized Banco Regional S.A. to amend its Bylaws, as decided by Special Shareholders’ 
Meeting held on September 30, 2008, to change its previous business name to Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. The 
amendment was registered with the Public Registries on November 21, 2008, and with the CNV (Paraguayan 
securities commission) on December 4, 2008, through CNV Resolution No. 1156/08.

On April 22, 2009, the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay S.A. was completed, 
with the purpose of merging the latter with and into Banco Regional SAECA. On September 3, 2009, the final 
merger agreement involving Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay S.A. was executed. On September 4, 2009, the 
Special Shareholders’ Meeting of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. was held, during which the merger agreement 
between both banks was officially approved. In view of this process, Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A., as the 
controlling Entity, assumes all rights and obligations of the acquired entity.

At December 31, 2015, the Bank had 37 branches (36 branches at December 31, 2014).

b.2 Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements are a free translation into English of those originally prepared in Spanish, expressed 
in local currency (Guaranies or PYG). 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards and specific 
instructions issued by the Central Bank of Paraguay and, on aspects not covered by them, in accordance with 
applicable financial reporting standards in the country, issued by the Public Accountants Council of Paraguay.

The model is based on a conventional basis of historical cost, except for property, plant and equipment that 
are exposed to their revalued amounts, as explained in note c.9 and the treatment assigned to monetary 
assets and liabilities in foreign currency, as explained in note c.1, not recognized in the overall effects of 
inflation on the financial position of the institution, or results of operations. According to the Consumer Price 
Index published by the Central Bank of Paraguay, inflation for the year ended on December 31, 2015 and 2014 
was 3.1% and 4.2% respectively.

The accounting rules set by the Central Bank of Paraguay differ from the existing standards of financial 
reporting in Paraguay, mainly in the following aspects:

a. They do not require the issuance of the statement of cash flows and the comparative financial statements.
b. The adjustments to accumulated results are recorded as income (expense) for the year without affecting 
the Bank’s equity accounts.
c. The accounting record of the deferred tax is not contemplated
d. Earnings per share do not need to be calculated or disclosed.
e. There are specific criteria for the classification and valuation of the loan portfolio, the accrual recognition 
of interest and gains from valuation is suspended, as mentioned in note c.6.
f. Banks are required to set allowances for loan losses, allowances for contingent risks and assets in general 
based on the parameters set forth in Resolution 1, Record No. 60, of the Board of Directors of the Central 
Bank of Paraguay dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments.
g. No disclosure is required of PP&E movements.
h. No disclosure is required of the concentration of liabilities by numbers of depositors.
i. No disclosure is required of the average interest rates or of the average assets and liabilities that have 
accrued interest.
j. No opening movement of deferred charges is required.
k. No disclosure of the base is required to identify the general risks of the banking industry and the 
accounting treatment of such risks, and
l. Permanent investments in shares of other companies are valued at cost.

Disclosure and / or quantification of these differences are not required by the Central Bank of Paraguay.

The preparation of these financial statements requires that the Board of Directors and Management of 
the Bank make certain estimates and assumptions that affect asset and liability balances, the disclosures 
of contingencies and the recognition of income and expenses. Assets and liabilities are recognized in 
the financial statements when it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to or from the Bank and 
the different items have a cost or value that can be reliably measured. If in the future these estimates 
and assumptions, which are based on Management’s best judgment as of the date of these financial 
statements, change with regard to the current circumstances, the original estimates and assumptions will 
be appropriately amended on the date on which those changes take place. The main estimates related to the 
financial statements refer to the allowances for doubtful accounts, PP&E depreciations, the amortization of 
deferred charges and allowances to cover other contingencies. 

b.3 Foreign branches

The Bank has no foreign branches.
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At December 31, 2015, the shareholder composition was structured as follows:

As mentioned in note c.12 d), “Monetary correction of capital stock”, the Bank’s current level of paid in capital 
is above the legal minimum required by the Central Bank of Paraguay for this fiscal year.

b.6 Board of Directors and Executive Officers

At December 31, 2015, the Board of Directors and the Executive Officers are as follows:

b.7 English translation of statutory financial statements

These financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of English-speaking 
readers. The financial statements are the English translation of those originally prepared by the Entity in 
Spanish, expressed in local currency (Guaranies) and presented in accordance with financial standards 
established by the Central Bank of Paraguay and, in issues not covered by them, with the financial reporting 
standards in force in Paraguay. The effects of the differences between these standards and the accounting 
principles generally accepted in the countries in which the financial statements are to be used have not been 
quantified. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements are not intended to present the financial 
position, results of operations, shareholders’ equity or cash flows in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the countries of users of the financial statements, other than Paraguay.

% Of votesShareholders Shares PYG % Share

 303,907,000,000 

 481,039,400,000 

 784,946,400,000 

 38%

62%

100%

38.72%

61.28%

100.00%

Rabo Bank Financial Institutions Development B.V.

Other resident minority shareholders

Total

Board of Directors Executive Officers

President

Vice-president

Directors

Alternate Directors

Syndic

Alternate Syndic

General Manager

Deputy General Manager

Internal Audit Manager

Compliance Manager

Legal Affairs Manager

Corporate Risk Manager and Business

Manager Risk Individuals and SMEs

Finance Manager

Human Resources Manager

Operations Manager

Bussiness Support Manager

Information Technology Manager

Administrative Manager

Corporate Banking Acting Manager

Branch Manager

Private Banking Manager

Treasury Manager

Correspondent and Foreing Trade Manager

Regular Notary

General Accountant 

Raúl Vera Bogado

Cornelis J. Beijer

Alfredo Ricardo Raatz 

Petrus van Jaarsveld

Wolfgang Brönstrup 

Irene Memmel de Matiauda

Erik Heyl

Francisco Yanagida 

Adrian Lorenzutti

Mirian Raatz de Soley

Roland Wolf

Sandra Yshizuka

Eugenio Oze de Morvil

Matheus den Exter

Juan Carlos Meza

Erica Werner

Marcos Dalla Fontana

Jorge Sienkawiec

Mats Hernegard

Oscar Godoy Silvero

María del Carmen Valenzuela

Isabel Galiano de Ayala

Rodrigo Bauza

Mirta González

Fabio Sitzmann Hein

Walter Duarte Kallus

Justin Van Der Sluis

Anahi Heisecke

Daniel Cibils

María Fernanda Carrón

Leticia Pérez Domínguez

Francisco Furman S.

b.5 Capital structure and characteristics of the shares

The paid in capital at December 31, 2015 and 2014, by type of share, is as follows:

At December 31, 2015

Common, subscribed and paid in shares
Type Number

Votes 
per share PYG

 13,580,900,000 

 317,458,500,000 

 9,053,900,000 

 194,853,100,000 

 250,000,000,000 

 784,946,400,000 

  135,809 

 3,174,585 

 90,539 

 1,948,531 

 2,500,000 

 7,849,464 

Founders Class “A” common shares 

Common Class “A” common shares 

Multiple Class “B” common shares 

Common Class “B” common shares 

Preferred 

 5 

 1 

 5 

 1 

 - 

b.4 Shareholdings in other companies

Interest in capital stock in other companies at December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

.

Company name Condition Investment 
currency

Face 
value 

 % equity 
interest 

 Carrying value 
in PYG 

December 31, 2015

Bancard S.A. - Paraguay

VISA INC - USA

SWIFT 

Total

December 31, 2014

Bancard S.A. - Paraguay

VISA INC - USA

SWIFT 

Total

Affiliate

Non-affiliate

Non-affiliate

Affiliate

Non-affiliate

Non-affiliate

 5,775,000,000 

 1 

 19,800 

 5,121,000,000 

 1 

 19,800 

  6,582,846,968 

 6,388 

 111,035,560  

 6,693,888,916 

 5,928,846,968 

 5,092 

 120,314,515 

 6,049,166,575 

6.67%

Minority

Minority

6.67%

Minority

Minority

PYG 

USD 

EUR 

PYG 

USD 

EUR 

The abovementioned investments are recorded in the “Investments in securities issued by the private 
sector”. See note c.8. 

Common, subscribed and paid in shares
Type Number

Votes 
per share PYG

  13.580.900.000 

 256.760.500.000 

 9.053.900.000 

 158.060.500.000 

 250.000.000.000 

 687.455.800.000 

  135.809

2.567.605

90.539

1.580.605

2.500.000

6.874.558

Founders Class “A” common shares 

Common Class “A” common shares 

Multiple Class “B” common shares 

Common Class “B” common shares 

Preferred 

5

1

5

1

0

At December 31, 2014
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C. Information regarding main assets and liabilities

c.1 Valuation of foreign currency

The assets and liabilities stated in foreign currency are valued at the exchange rates prevailing at December 
31, 2015 and 2014 respectively, provided by the Foreign Exchange Desk of the International Transactions 
Department at the Central Bank of Paraguay, and do not differ materially from the exchange rates in effect 
on the free foreign exchange market:

The foreign exchange differences resulting from fluctuations in the exchange rates between the date on 
which a transaction is closed and the date on which it is settled or valued at the end of each period, are 
recognized in the income (loss) for the period, with the exceptions indicated in note f.1.

c.2 Position in foreign currency

The foreign exchange position at December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the foreign currency position did not exceed the limit set 
by the Bank position paper presented to the Central Bank of Paraguay, on January 3, 2013, pursuant to 
Resolution No. 25 Act No. 77 dated December 28, 2011 which establishes the free choice of position range 
depending on the category established in the Resolution that financial institutions chosen for their net 
position for each year.

Market risk management: Market risk is the risk that the changes in market prices, for instance, interest 
rates, changes in foreign currency, etc., will affect the Bank’s equity and/or results depending on the 
positions taken on the financial market. The Bank controls market risk by monitoring the limits established 
in the Market Risk Policies approved by the Assets and Liabilities Committee and the Board of Directors.

Exchange rate at December 31, 2015   
(PYG per foreign currency unit)

Exchange rate at December 31, 2014   
(PYG per foreign currency unit)

Arbitrated amount 
to USD

Arbitrated amount 
to USD

Equivalent amount 
in PYG

Equivalent amount 
in PYG

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Currency

Item

 5,806.91 

 6,337.08 

 48.16 

 1,456.10 

 447.34 

 8,619.20 

 5,869.12 

 688.97 

 894.79 

 4,230.91 

 4,180.04 

 1,647,337,952.35 

 (1,647,933,306.41)

 (595,354)

 1,673,417,543 

 (1,675,371,739)

 (1,954,195)

 9,565,943,228,808 

 (9,569,400,396,274)

 (3,457,167,467)

  7,746,249,807,974 

 (7,755,295,778,627)

 (9,045,970,653)

 4,629.00 

 5,634.42 

 38.76 

 1,739.05 

 541.44 

 7,205.50 

 4,684.27 

 597.94 

 746.50 

 3,796.71 

 3,989.14 

1 US Dollar

1 Euro

1 Yen

1 Real

1 Argentine Peso

1 Pound Sterling

1 Swiss Franc

1 Swedish Krona

1 Chinese Yuan

1 Australian Dollar

1 Canadian Dollar

Total assets in foreign currency

Total liabilities in foreign currency

Long position in foreign currency

Issuance  
currency

Issuance  
currency

Face value

Face value

Amount in issuance 
currency

Amount in issuance 
currency

Carrying amount

Carrying amount

Amount in Paraguayan guaranies

Amount in Paraguayan guaranies

Government and private securities

Government and private securities

PYG

PYG

PYG

PYG

PYG

386,853,335,994

451,280,000,000

 -   

838,133,335,994

435,041,112,500

1,293,000,000

693,990,000,000

 -   

1,130,324,112,500

386,853,335,994

451,280,000,000

435,041,112,500

1,293,000,000

693,990,000,000

  315,024,407,102

418,992,098,760

 42,039,871,960 

776,056,377,822

 358,588,357,065

1,293,000,000

648,840,110,916

 38,323,651,649 

1,047,045,119,630

Paraguayan Treasury Bonds (a)

Monetary Regulation Instruments (b)

Accrued interest

Total

Paraguayan Treasury Bonds (a)

Development Finance Agency Bonds

Monetary Regulation Instruments (b)

Accrued interest

Total

See additionally paragraph a), of note c.12

c.4 Government and private securities

The government and private securities acquired by Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. involve Paraguayan Treasury 
Bonds, Bonds from the Development Finance Agency (AFD), Monetary Regulation Instruments and Private 
Bonds not listed on securities markets, and the securities of private companies in Paraguay listed on the 
stock exchange or secondary market. The government and private securities at cost value plus accrued 
interest to be collected at December 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively, which does not exceed their estimated 
realizable value.

As of December 31, 2015

December 31, 2015 
PYG

December 31, 2014 
PYGItem

 411,333,165,036 

 1,004,850,705,538 

 16,727,059,539 

 825,800,000 

 3,804,149,248 

 177,251,000,000 

 44,705 

 217,065,021,157 

 5,038,310,473 

 1,836,895,255,696 

 449,544,934,069 

 905,450,626,826 

 10,947,417,637 

 215,600,000 

 205,374,102 

 292,807,000,000 

 8,938,876,193 

 78,032,871,410 

 2,637,321,901 

 1,748,780,022,138 

Minimum cash requirement in PYG

Minimum cash requirements in USD

Minimum cash requirement in EUR

Special cash requirement in PYG 

Special cash requirement in USD 

Monetary Transactions Operations

Current accounts in PYG

Current accounts in USD

Current accounts EUR

Total

As of December 31, 2014

c.3. Deposits in the Central Bank of Paraguay

The deposits in the Central Bank of Paraguay at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:
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(a) As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Bank has granted as guarantee Paraguayan Treasury 
Bonds held in its portfolio at those dates, for a total amount of PYG 39.650.418.934 and PYG 47.588.889.573, 
respectively, therefore its availability is restricted, as mentioned in note c.12b.
(b) As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Bank has granted Monetary Regulation Instruments 
for PYG 13.934.411.578 and PYG 15.124.339.553, respectively, as minimum guarantees required by the BCP, 
under general regulations of the SIPAP (See also note c.12.b).

c.5 Assets and liabilities with adjustment clauses

Except for the loans borrowed (liabilities) from the Development Finance Agency and the loans granted 
(assets) using the Development Finance Agency funds and certain loans granted using the Bank’s own funds, 
which involve contractual clauses for potential adjustments to the annual interest rates, at December 31, 
2015, there were no other assets or liabilities with adjustment clauses.

c.6 Loan portfolio

Management of credit risk: 
Credit risk is controlled by the Bank’s Board of Directors and Management, mainly through the evaluation 
and analysis of individual transactions, for which certain clearly-defined aspects in the Bank’s credit policies 
are taken into consideration, such as: the proven payment ability and indebtedness of the debtors, the credit 
concentration of groups of companies, individual credit-granting limits, evaluation of economic sectors, 
preferred securities and the working capital requirement, depending on the market risks.

Criteria for classification and valuation:
The loan portfolio has been stated at face value plus accrued interest the end of the year, net of allowances, 
which were calculated according to the Bank’s internal credit valuation policies and the allowances set forth 
by the Central Bank of Paraguay Board of Directors’ in the Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60 dated September 
28, 2007, and subsequent amendments; for which:

a) Debtors have been classified into the following groups: i) Large debtors; ii) Medium and small debtors; iii) 
Personal debtors of consumer or mortgage loans and iv) Microcredits;
b) The debtors have been classified into 6 categories of risk, based on the evaluation and qualification of 
the payment capacity of a debtor or group of related debtors, with respect to all of their obligations. A rule 
amending Resolution No. 1/2007 requires Category 1 disintegrates into three sub-categories for the purpose 
of determination of allowances (1, 1.a y 1.b);
c) Accrued interest on performing loans ranked on category “1” and category “2” subjectively, are recognized 
as revenue in their entirety. Accrued interest receivable at the reporting date on nonperforming loans and/
or performing loans ranked on category “2” and higher, which have been recognized as income until its entry 
into arrears, have an allowances that covers the total amount of such accrued interest;
d) The accrual of interest and the recognition of gains from the valuation of nonperforming loans and 
performing loans classified in risk categories “2” or higher since its entry into arrears, have been suspended, 
and are recognized as revenue when are collected, as mentioned in note f.1;  
e) Amortized loans are considered nonperforming after 61 days of default on any of their installments, and 
fixed term loans or single maturity loans, on the day after maturity;
f) Specific allowances have been set which are required to cover potential losses that may arise if the 
portfolio is not recovered  according to the criteria and parameters established by Resolution of the Board of 
the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 of September 28, 2007, amendments and all supplemental;
g) Generic allowances have been made of net loan portfolio of specific allowances according to the criteria 
and parameters established by Resolution of the Board of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 of 

September 28, 2007. It has been also registered additional generic allowances, according to the Board of 
Directors determination; and
h) Bad debts that are written off, under the conditions established in the applicable regulation of the BCP, are 
recorded and reported in memorandum accounts.

c.6.1 Performing loans to the financial sector

According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Banks Regulatory Authority 
of the Central Bank of Paraguay, the Bank’s performing loan portfolio for the financial sector is classified by 
risk as follows:

As of December 31, 2015

References

(a) Includes capital and interest and forward contracts (net of  unrealized valuation earnings);
(b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of 
allowances in the loan portfolio, are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution No. 1, 
Act No. 60 BCP Board dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments; and
(c) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have 
computable guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary 
debt). For the rest of debtors, the allowance is calculated in two phases, computing guarantees for the 
second one.

Risk 
category

Risk 
category

Allowances

Allowances

Minimun % (b)

Minimun % (b)

Booked (c)

Booked (c)

Carrying 
amount before 
allowances (a)

Carrying 
amount before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Carrying amount  
after allowances

Carrying amount  
after allowances

  547,940,878,393 

 33,705,953,505 

 581,646,831,898 

  836,033,798,872 

 3,520,712,329 

 25,444,034,050 

 864,998,545,251 

  123,706,921,429 

 30,563,124,382 

 154,270,045,811 

   112,189,490,669 

 -   

 24,425,793,425 

 136,615,284,094 

   547,940,878,393 

 32,803,069,735 

 580,743,948,128 

   836,033,798,872 

 3,503,108,767 

 24,798,379,742 

 864,335,287,381 

   -   

 (902,883,770)

 (902,883,770)

 -   

 (17,603,562)

 (645,654,308)

 (663,257,870)

0%

5%

0%

0.5%

5%

1

2

Total

1

1a

2

Total

As of December 31, 2014
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c.6.2 Performing loans to the nonfinancial sector 

The performing loans portfolio of the nonfinancial sector is comprised as follows:

According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Banks Regulatory Authority 
of the Central Bank of Paraguay, the Bank’s performing loan portfolio to the nonfinancial sector is classified 
by risk as follows:

As of December 31, 2015

December 31, 2015 PYG December 31, 2014 PYGItem

 982,297,804,359 

 7,928,373,007,624 

 792,523,180 

 143,327,854,224 

 118,282,475,861 

 130,643,072,662 

 683,365,267,088 

 184,848,951,891 

 352,195,105,579 

 335,270,161,927 

 52,072,144,854 

 10,127,381,717 

 231,178,401,734 

 (4,042,402,700)

 (180,192,370,436)

 10,968,539,379,564 

 336,620,117,351 

 6,999,827,853,951 

 787,474,818 

 178,311,525,860 

 68,879,453,511 

 103,920,872,374 

 313,150,416,631 

 261,942,880,743 

 647,599,555,969 

 126,788,098,484 

 75,089,889,573 

 6,499,011,725 

 158,077,623,786 

 (1,189,259,073)

 (82,322,978,224)

 9,193,982,537,479 

Term loans not subject to adjustment

Amortized loans not subject to adjustment

Checks acquired in Paraguay

Loans for overdrafts

Receivables from deferred credit documents

Receivables from use of credit cards

Loans with managed founds

Bills discounted

Deferred checks discounted

Portfolio Purchase

Transactions pending settlement

Loans to the government sector

Receivables from accrued financial products

(-) Valuation gains recognition suspended

(-) Allowances

Total

Risk 
Category

Previsiones

Minimun % (b) Booked (d)

Carrying 
amount before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Carrying 
amount after 
allowances

   9,268,880,621,612 

 593,731,269,823 

 195,160,243,460 

 793,844,929,123 

 175,526,251,429 

 104,897,065,478 

 9,969,326,788 

 6,722,042,287

 

11,148,731,750,000 

    4,644,258,928,264 

 354,404,064,684 

 124,865,276,100 

 467,414,746,003 

 77,474,224,225 

 30,742,464,857 

 5,351,040,714 

 2,228,598,532

5,706,739,343,379

  9,268,880,621,612 

 590,938,462,059 

 193,180,035,959 

 766,320,243,615 

 141,122,990,551 

 62,882,203,393 

 5,569,295,510 

 2,153,859,818 

 (62,508,332,953)

 10,968,539,379,564 

 -   

 (2,792,807,764)

 (1,980,207,501)

 (27,524,685,508)

 (34,403,260,878)

 (42,014,862,085)

 (4,400,031,278)

 (4,568,182,469)

 (62,508,332,953)

 (180,192,370,436)

0%

0.5%

1.5%

5%

25%

50%

75%

100%

1

1a

1b

2

3

4

5

6

Generic allowances (c)

Total

  

References

(a) Includes capital and interest and forward contracts (net of  unrealized valuation earnings);
(b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of 
allowances in the loan portfolio, are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution No. 1, 
Act No. 60 BCP Board dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments;
(c) Generic allowances established by the Bank in accordance with the requirements of Resolution 1/2007of 
the Central Bank of Paraguay; and additional generic allowances defined by the Board of Directors of the 
Entity; and
(d) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have 
computable guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary 
debt). For the rest of debtors, the allowance is calculated in two phases, computing guarantees for the 
second one.

c.6.3 Nonperforming loans 

The nonperforming loans portfolio is comprised as follows:

As of December 31, 2014

    8,769,833,186,117 

 163,304,980,216 

 53,466,179,142 

 215,412,720,178 

 30,185,633,917 

 34,840,189,218 

 5,953,081,612 

 3,309,545,303 

 

 9,276,305,515,703 

     4,011,023,008,529 

 47,272,556,756 

 13,868,122,409 

 75,299,783,666 

 18,452,508,085 

 10,724,805,020 

 1,498,583,826 

 770,327,720 

 4,178,909,696,011 

   8,769,833,186,117 

 162,486,750,765 

 52,743,172,099 

 206,414,073,329 

 25,108,218,782 

 20,976,872,416 

 2,037,386,681 

 629,147,845 

 (46,246,270,555)

 9,193,982,537,479 

 -   

 (818,229,451)

 (723,007,043)

 (8,998,646,849)

 (5,077,415,135)

 (13,863,316,802)

 (3,915,694,931)

 (2,680,397,458)

 (46,246,270,555)

 (82,322,978,224)

0%

0,5%

1,5%

5%

25%

50%

75%

100%

1

1a

1b

2

3

4

5

6

Generic allowances (c) 

Total

December 31, 2015 
PYG

December 31, 2014
PYGItem

  14,887,318,422 

 59,779,657,492 

 188,105,760,706 

 1,672,119,884 

 13,210,407,955 

 (6,322,268,830)

 (158,612,502,451)

 112,720,493,178 

 23,866,647,693 

 35,161,377,665 

 142,368,263,868 

 2,552,519,002 

 9,606,545,640 

 (1,075,890,197)

 (130,582,961,979)

 81,896,501,692 

Nonperforming loans - Status: past due

Nonperforming loans - Status: undergoing proceedings

Nonperforming loans - Status: delinquent

Nonperforming loans - Financial sector

Accrued interests

(-) Unrealized valuation earnings

(-) Allowances

Total

Risk 
Category

Previsiones

Minimun % (b) Booked (d)

Carrying 
amount before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Carrying 
amount after 
allowances
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According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Banks Regulatory Authority 
of the Central Bank of Paraguay, the Bank’s nonperforming loan portfolio is classified by risk as follows:

As of December 31, 2015

References

(a) Includes principal and interest and forward contracts (net of  unrealized valuation earnings);
(b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of 
allowances in the loan portfolio, are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution No. 1, 
Act No. 60 BCP Board dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments; and
(c) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have 
computable guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary 
debt). For the rest of debtors, the allowance is calculated in two phases, computing guarantees only for the 
second one.

Risk 
category

Risk 
category

Allowances

Allowances

Minimun % (b)

Minimun % (b)

Booked (c)

Booked (c)

Carrying 
amount before 
allowances (a)

Carrying 
amount before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Carrying 
amount after 
allowances

Carrying 
amount after 
allowances

  1,793,794,991 

 8,191,652,387 

 24,340,569,421 

 40,634,266,861 

 47,324,983,232 

 149,047,728,737 

 271,332,995,629 

   8,379,654 

 2,142,869,809 

 8,577,349,858 

 16,884,441,188 

 37,060,357,889 

 67,128,283,631 

 80,677,781,642 

 212,479,463,671 

    397,796,393 

 2,029,462,725 

 7,681,838,831 

 16,108,495,359 

 10,604,192,300 

 43,675,375,390 

 80,497,160,998 

    - 

 338,450,564 

 2,882,364,997 

 7,804,664,576 

 18,800,895,888 

 19,347,322,788 

 7,716,483,639 

 56,890,182,452 

  1,708,042,511 

 6,921,559,590 

 18,411,543,912 

 24,827,161,655 

 17,747,491,720 

 43,104,693,790 

 112,720,493,178 

 8,337,756 

 2,018,907,269 

 8,002,227,989 

 13,422,917,811 

 23,559,477,003 

 27,168,150,225 

 7,716,483,639 

 81,896,501,692 

 (85,752,480)

 (1,270,092,797)

 (5,929,025,509)

 (15,807,105,206)

 (29,577,491,512)

 (105,943,034,947)

 (158,612,502,451)

 (41,898)

 (123,962,540)

 (575,121,869)

 (3,461,523,377)

 (13,500,880,886)

 (39,960,133,406)

 (72,961,298,003)

 (130,582,961,979)

1.5%

5%

25%

50%

75%

100%

0.5%

1,5%

5%

25%

50%

75%

100%

1b

2

3

4

5

6

Total

1a

1b

2

3

4

5

6

Total

As of December 31, 2014

c.6.4 Other receivables

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, breaks down as follows:

a) The accrual for income tax liabilities included in the “Accruals” as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 was 
approximately PYG. 18.421.622.748 and PYG. 8.786.082.611, respectively.

c.7 Allowances for direct and contingent risks

Allowances for loan losses and other assets are determined at the end of each period based on the 
examination of the portfolio to determine the portion of those portfolios that are not recoverable and 
considering the a, for each type of credit risk, laid down in Central Bank of Paraguay Board of Directors’ 
Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60 dated September 28, 2007, and its amendments and/or further extensions.

On a regular basis, Bank Management reviews and analyzes the loan portfolio pursuant to credit valuation 
standards established by the Banks Regulatory Authority of the Central Bank of Paraguay, so as to adjust 
the allowances for loan losses. All allowances necessary to cover potential losses on direct and contingent 
risks have been set, pursuant to the criteria of Bank Management and the requirements of Central Bank of 
Paraguay Board of  Directors’ Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60, dated September 28, 2007, and Resolution No. 
37, Record No. 72, dated November 29, 2011.

The movement recorded during the years ended December 31, 2015, and 2014, in the allowance accounts is 
summarized as follows:

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014Item

 2,952,456,014 

 2,290,241,215 

 18,563,658,352 

 17,371,809,512 

 1,767,745,787 

 15,857,636,229 

 1,943,528,784 

 1,421,373,403 

 2,264,694,900 

 553,800,841 

 1,933,465,668 

 3,012,181,548 

 - 

 1,035,565,868 

 (2,653,420,957)

 68,314,737,164 

  3,172,023,382 

 1,923,649,982 

 23,560,559,217 

 17,371,809,511 

 1,753,784,931 

 518,486,489 

 2,348,929,296 

 688,993,911 

 960,038,900 

 735,797,476 

 1,863,705,696 

 2,467,539,872 

 (15,680,000)

 1,793,675,314 

 (2,727,641,002)

 56,415,672,975 

Prepayment of goods and services purchases

Prepaid expenses

Deferred changes related bound issuance abroad

Prepaid income tax (a)

Value-aded tax deductible

Tax credit certificates

Receivables from forward sale of goods

Expenses to be recovered

Compensation claimed for losses

Other

Suspense account

Lawsuit expenses recoverable

Valuation gains to be realized

Uncolelected accrued interest

Allowances (Note c.7)

 Total
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As of December 31, 2015

As of December 31, 2014

Item

Item

Reclassifications  
and adjustments 
 to allowances for 

 the year

Reclassifications  
and adjustments 
 to allowances for 

 the year

Balance at  
beginning of the 

 year

Balance at  
beginning of the 

 year

Additions

Additions

Reversal of 
allowances for  

the year

Reversal of 
allowances for  

the year

Changes from  
valuation in  

foreign currency

Changes from  
valuation in  

foreign currency

Balance 
at the end  
of the year

Balance 
at the end  
of the year

Cash and Bank

Cash and Bank

Perfoarming loans - 
financial sector

Perfoarming loans - 
financial sector

Perfoarming loans - 
nonfinancial sector

Perfoarming loans - 
nonfinancial sector

Other receivables

Nonperforarming loans

Investments

Total 

Other receivables

Nonperforarming loans

Investments

Total 

c.8 Investments

The investments account includes:

Assets acquired in credit recovery: 

These assets are valued at the lowest of the following three values: Appraisal value, allocation value and 
balance of the receivable immediately before allocation, pursuant to the provisions of the Central Bank 
of Paraguay in this regard. Additionally, for assets exceeding the terms established by the Central Bank 
of Paraguay for their possession, allowances are set forth pursuant to the provisions in Resolution No. 1, 
Record No. 60 dated September 28, 2007, issued by the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Paraguay. 
After three years of possession, an allowance is set for 100% of these assets.

Private securities: 

Long-term investments in interests in companies, which have been valued at acquisition value as they 
represent a minority interest of the Bank. This value does not exceed their market value, calculated based on 
the equity method value of those investments.

Other investments: 

They are related to works of art that are valued at acquisition cost, which does not exceed their recoverable 
value.

The investments as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is comprised as follows:

c.9. Property, plant and equipment

The original values of property, plant and equipment and their accumulated depreciations are revalued up 
to the end of each year, pursuant to the change in the Consumer Price Index published by the Central Bank 
of Paraguay. According to this index, accumulated inflation of the years ended at December, 2015, and 2014, 
was 3,1% and 4,2%, respectively. The net increase of the revaluation reserve at the end of each the year is 
disclosed in the “Revaluation reserve” account of the Bank’s shareholders’ equity.

The cost of improvements or additions are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs that do not increase 
the value of the goods or their useful life are expensed in the year they occur.

Depreciations are computed as from the month after their addition to the Bank’s assets, through monthly 
charges to the results based on a straight-line basis, in the estimated years of useful life, except for the 
assets acquired in the merger process of Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay S.A., which continue with their original 
method and are computed as from the year after their addition. The residual value of revalued assets, taken 
as a whole, does not exceed the recoverable value thereof as of December 31, 2015, and 2014.

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014Description Notes

 

6,693,888,916 

 6,693,888,916 

 -   

 149,480,777,719 

 149,480,777,719 

 3,774,491 

 1 

 (8,769,240,392)

 147,409,200,735 

 

b.4

 

c.7

 6,049,166,575 

 6,049,166,575 

 13,512,051,000 

 22,716,760,836 

 36,228,811,836 

 3,008,850 

 -   

 (10,127,753,563)

 32,153,233,698 

Corporate securities

Investments in securities issued by private sector

Subtotal

Assets acquired in credit recovery

Movable - Organic sugar from Azucarera Iturbe S.A.

Real estate

Subtotal

Other investments

Investment income in the private sector

Allowances

Total
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The breakdown of property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2015, and 2014 is as follows:

Item

Item

Balance at the 
beginning of year

Percentage 
of anual 

depreciation 
%

Net amount 
at the end of 

the year

Additions

Balance 
at the 

beginning 
of year Disposals

Depreciations

Revaluation
 

Balance 
at end 
of yearAdditions

Disposals

Original Value

Revaluation
Balance at the 

 end of year

   

9,995,083,180 

 40,138,733,472 

 43,018,515,082 

 46,846,454,195 

 1,998,824,599 

 1,923,198,666 

 1,878,368,600 

145,799,177,794

143,870,443,576

0%

2.50%

10%

25%

10%

20%

25%

 - 

 (14,445,169,657)

 (22,656,373,748)

 (31,597,179,577)

 (1,278,315,375)

 (1,247,324,421)

 (989,732,394)

 (72,214,095,172)

 (73,070,575,051)

 - 

 (1,016,690,892)

 (4,306,432,914)

 (7,548,739,508)

 (164,113,151)

 (329,765,404)

 

 (504,930,772)

 (13,870,672,641)

 (13,119,470,810)

 - 

 - 

 6,377,732,241 

 2,901,098,182 

 107,271,548 

 - 

 - 

 9,386,101,971 

 15,645,345,939 

 - 

 (449,369,015)

 (446,393,226)

 (455,016,819)

 (29,086,581)

 (37,645,342)

 - 

 (1,417,510,983)

 (1,669,395,250)

 - 

 (15,911,229,564)

 (21,031,467,647)

 (36,699,837,722)

 (1,364,243,559)

 (1,614,735,167)

 (1,494,663,166)

 (78,116,176,825)

 (72,214,095,172)

 10,218,599,137 

 25,467,478,985 

 16,924,970,576 

 16,684,660,620 

 628,740,083 

 368,474,836 

 595,737,161 

 70,888,661,398 

 7,585,082,622 

 - 

 - 

 1,232,675,377 

 8,326,625,217 

 50,600,000 

 - 

 212,031,727 

9,821,932,321

13,238,831,096

 - 

 - 

 (7,331,707,255)

 (2,853,296,696)

 (107,387,850)

 - 

 - 

 (10,292,391,801)

 (15,890,878,131)

 223,515,957 

 1,239,975,077 

 1,036,955,019 

 1,064,715,626 

 50,946,893 

 60,011,337 

 - 

3,676,119,909

 4,580,781,253 

 

10,218,599,137 

 41,378,708,549 

 37,956,438,223 

 53,384,498,342 

 1,992,983,642 

 1,983,210,003 

 2,090,400,327 

149,004,838,223

 145,799,177,794 

Bank Owned:

Real property - Land

Real property - Buildings

Furniture and office supplies

Computer hardware

Bank safe-deposit boxes

Transport materials

Taken leasing:

Computer hardware

As of December 31, 2015

As of December 31, 2014

Bank Owned:

Real property - Land

Real property - Buildings

Furniture and office supplies

Computer hardware

Bank safe-deposit boxes

Transport materials

Taken leasing:

Computer hardware

As of December 31, 2015

As of December 31, 2014

According to banking legislation, financial institutions operating in Paraguay are forbidden to pledge of PP&E, 
except for those affected to support of financial leasing operations and to the Central Bank of Paraguay.

The banking law sets a limit for investment in PP&E, which is 50% of effective equity. The book value of fixed 
assets of the Company at December 31, 2015 is within such limit.

c.10. Deferred charges

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, this account is as follows:

Item IncreasesNet amount at 
beginning of year

Amortization  
for the year

Net amount at 
end of year

December 31, 2015

Improvements and facilities 

in leased real property (*)

Office supplies and others

Total

December 31, 2014

Improvements and facilities 

in leased real property (*)

Office supplies and others

Total

 9,467,415,650 

 2,274,686,907 

 11,742,102,557 

 8,530,998,995

  2,444,688,234 

 10,975,687,229 

 1,554,150,891 

 3,452,622,296 

 5,006,773,187 

 4,034,271,645 

 3,208,941,779 

 7,243,213,424 

 (4,560,476,909)

 (3,425,350,194)

 (7,985,827,103)

 (3,267,856,317)

 (3,208,941,779)

 (6,476,798,096)

6,461,089,632

2,301,959,009

 8,763,048,641 

9,297,414,323

2,444,688,234

 11,742,102,557 

(*) The Bank amortizes improvements and facilities in leased real property on a straight-line basis 
considering a useful life of 5 years.

c.11 Bonds, debentures and bonds in circulation

a) Issued in local market

EThe chapter “Bonds, debentures and bonds issued into circulation” included in the items “Liabilities from 
financial transactions - not financial sector” of the balance sheet include subordinated bonds whose balance 
and detail of emissions to December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

Authorization 
Resolution issued 

by the Central 
Bank of Paraguay

Issuance 
currency

Issuance  
amount (*) Maturity

Amount in 
issuance 
currency

Accounting 
balance at 
December 
31, 2015

Accounting 
balance at 
December 
31, 2014

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 USD 

 USD 

   25,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 85,000,000,000 

 5,000,000.00 

 5,000,000.00 

 10,000,000.00 

   25,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 85,000,000,000 

 1,550,000 

 428,000 

 1,978,000 

    - 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 9,000,710,500 

 2,485,357,480 

 71,486,067,980

 25,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 20,000,000,000 

 7,174,950,000 

 1,981,212,000 

 94,156,162,000 

   1827 días 

 1827 días 

 1820 días 

 2002 días 

 1820 días 

 2184 días 

00196/2010

00196/2010

00196/2010

00196/2010

PYG Total

00196/2010

00196/2010

USD Total

Pyg Equivalent Total 

 
(*) The Central Bank of Paraguay has authorized, and the Bank has issued subordinated bonds in foreign 
currency up to an amount of USD 10.000.000, and in local currency up to an amount of PYG. 110.000.000.000.

Subordinated bonds will be convertible into shares, upon operation of law, in the event the Bank needs to 
cover the minimum capital requirements set forth by law or to replace capital losses (Law 861/96). The 
subordinated bonds do not have the deposit guarantee protection provided in Law No. 2334/03.
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b) Issued abroad

The Extraordinary General Meeting Nº 39 dated April 26, 2013 approved the issue of bonds abroad for up to 
USD 300.000.000 (three hundred million US dollars). On January 16, 2014, the Regional Bank SAECA issued 
bonds for an amount of USD 300 million. The titles were listed in Luxembourg and have a term of five years 
and an interest rate of 8.125% per annum (interest payable semiannually).

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the capital was included in the chapter of “Outstanding Bonds”, in 
the items “Bonds issued abroad - Financial Sector” for an amount of PYG 1.742.073.000.000 and PYG 
1.388.700.000.000, respectively.

Additionally, the Bank is committed to comply with certain positive and negative covenants according to the 
prospectus, which are monitored by the Board and management of the Bank. 
 
c.12 Limitations on available Assets or Equity and any other restrictions on property rights

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the limitations were as follows:

a) Minimun and special cash requirement:

The Central Bank of Paraguay account as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, includes PYG 1.437.540.879.361 
and PYG 1.366.363.952.634, respectively, which are restricted accounts held by the Bank as the minimun and 
special cash requirements. (See note c.3).

b) Government securities:

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the balance in “Government securities” (see note c.4) included 
Paraguayan Treasury Bonds for a total of PYG 39.650.418.934 and PYG 47.588.889.573, respectively, which 
grants Repo transactions.

As of Decembert 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Entity has issued Monetary Regulation Instruments 
for PYG 13.934.411.578 and PYG 15.124.339.553, respectively, as minimum guarantees constituted that are 
required by the BCP, under general regulations of the SIPAP. (See note c.4).
 
c) Legal reserve:

According to Article 27 of Law 861/96, financial institutions must have a reserve of not less than the 
equivalent of one hundred percent (100%) of its capital, which will be transferred annually not less than 
twenty percent (20%) of the net profits of each financial year.

Article 28 of the said Law provides that the legal reserve resources are automatically applied to cover losses 
in the financial year. In the following years, the total profits must be allocated to the legal reserve until the 
minimum amount thereof, or the highest that has been obtained in the process of its formation is reached 
again.

At any time, the amount of the reserve could be further increased with cash contributions.

d) Monetary correction of capital stock:

According to Article 11 of Law No. 861/96, financial institutions must update their capital annually according 
to Consumer Price Index (CPI) calculated by the Central Bank of Paraguay. The present value of the minimum 
capital requirement for the year 2015 and 2014 is PYG 43.296.000.000 and PYG 39.711.000.000, respectively, 
according to Circular SB SG No. 001/2015 and Circular SB SG No. 012/2014, respectively.

The Integrated Capital (common and preferred shares) of the Bank as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 
amounted to PYG 784.946.400.000 and PYG 687.455.800.000, respectively (see note b.5), which exceeds the 
minimum capital requirement.

e) Distribution of earnings:

According to provisions of Law No. 861/96 “General Law on Banks, Financial and Other Credit Institutions”, 
financial institutions may distribute their earnings after first obtaining approval of their respective audited 
annual financial statements by the Banks Regulatory Authority, provided it grants its approval within a period 
of one hundred and twenty days after year-end. After this term has elapsed without any findings by the Banks 
Regulatory Authority, earnings may be distributed.

The Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 24, 2015 approved the distribution of earnings of 2014 
fiscal year as follows:

Currency

Currency

Amounts

Amounts

Item

Item

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 PYG 

 28,688,408,352 

 61,464,000,000 

 40,000,000,000 

 4,503,550,793 

 134,655,959,145 

  31,668,929,740 

 70,198,300,000 

 45,000,000,000 

 3,811,591,713 

 150,678,821,453 

Booking of legal reserve

Capitalization of earnings

Cash dividends - preferred shares

Cash dividends - common shares

Total

Booking of legal reserve

Capitalization of earnings

Cash dividends - preferred shares

Cash dividends - common shares

Total

The Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 25, 2014 approved the distribution of dividends of 2013 
fiscal year as follows:



10325 Years believing in you 2015 Report and Financial Statements102

f) Preferred share dividends:
 
According to the original terms of the issuance of preferred shares, the shareholders will grant them a 
preferred dividend of 18% of the net profits for the year. The rate of preference dividend was reviewed by the 
Ordinary Shareholders Meeting in the fifth year of the issuance (2013), enhancing the assembly to modify this 
percentage for the following five years, according to market conditions, with a minimum of at least 6 points 
above the average inflation of the previous 10 years. Elapsed the first 10 years, and in subsequent meetings 
every five years, the respective meetings must establish new conditions for the following periods of five 
years.

The Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting held on October 18, 2013 resolved to set the preferred dividend 
rate of 16% for the following five years (2014 to 2018).

g) Additional income tax for dividend distribution:

According to the provisions of Law 125/91, as amended by Law 2421/04, the distribution of cash earnings 
are taxed at the rate of 5%. The Entity records the additional charge of income tax in the year in which the 
Shareholders decides the distribution.

Moreover, according to the tax regime established by those laws, profits remitted to foreign shareholders are 
subject to a withholding tax of 15% for income tax.

h) Guarantees given in favor of Bancard S.A.:

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank granted in favor of Bancard S.A. a stand by guarantee in the 
amount of USD 2.265.000 and USD 2.385.000, respectively, issued by the Rabobank Netherland to guarantee 
the balances resulting from user transactions at automatic teller machines (ATMs) or points of sale (POS) of 
the Infonet network, as well as obligations that may arise from MasterCard, VISA and BancardCheck credit 
card transactions.

c.13 Guarantees granted with respect to liabilities

As of December 31, 2015, the following guarantees had been granted with regard to liabilities:

The loans borrowed from GOVCO LLC, under an agreement with Citibank N.A. New York and secured by the 
Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), for a total of USD 33.750.000 with maturity dates on March 
1, 2018, and March 1, 2020, are guaranteed through customer promissory notes pledged for a total value of 
USD 36.637.170.

As of December 31, 2014, the following guarantees had been granted with regard to liabilities:

The loans borrowed from GOVCO LLC, under an agreement with Citibank N.A. New York and secured by the 
Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), for a total of USD 33.750.000 with maturity dates on March 
1, 2018, and March 1, 2020, are guaranteed through customer promissory notes pledged for a total value of 
USD 37.041.930.

Additionally, the Bank is committed to comply with certain financial, positive and negative covenants 
according to the contracts and agreements with multilateral credit institutions, and according to the 
prospectus of securities abroad, which are monitored by the Board and Management of the Bank. 

Item

Item

Terms remaining to maturity

Up to 
30 days

Up to 
30 days

From 31 days  
up to 180 days

From 31 days  
up to 180 days

From 181 days  
up to 1 year

From 181 days  
up to 1 year

Over 1 year up 
 to 3 years

Over 1 year up 
 to 3 years

Over 
3 years

Over 
3 years

Total

Total

Performing loans 
financial sector 

Performing loans 
nonfinancial sector 

Total Performing 
loans 
 

Obligations 
financial sector 

Obligations 
nonfinancial sector

Total Obligations 

Performing loans 
financial sector 

Performing loans 
nonfinancial sector 

Total Performing 
loans 
 

Obligations 
financial sector 

Obligations 
nonfinancial sector

Total Obligations 

As of December 31, 2015

As of December 31, 2014

 206,404,015,341 

1,251,437,190,869 

1,457,841,206,210 

476,058,099,722 

5,079,502,010,136 

5,555,560,109,858 

95,756,357,109 

1,112,092,689,834 

1,207,849,046,943 

385,505.118,536 

4,982,021,646,499 

5,367,526,765,035 

262,121,949,633 

4,101,475,063,248 

4,363,597,012,881 

235,406,965,280 

1,521,855,236,717 

1,757,262,201,997 

504,375,006,533 

3,693,325,392,087 

4,197,700,398,620 

610,439,235,082 

1,333,151,327,139 

1,943,590,562,221 

21,987,762,358 

1,656,504,016,087 

1,678,491,778,445 

359,297,835,266 

1,265,405,479,542 

1,624,703,314,808 

153,759,568,628 

1,302,283,416,713 

1.456,042,985,341 

339,397,591,629 

1,465,932,390,519 

1,805,329,982,148 

46,044,030,419 

1,902,279,611,256 

1,948,323,641,675 

534,366,496,407 

1,686,311,912,633 

2,220,678,409,040 

65,684,386,704 

1,490,690,710,049 

1,556,375,096,753 

374,506,068,840 

1,024,203,381,666 

1,398,709,450,506 

45,089,074,147 

2,237,035,868,540 

2,282,124,942,687 

2,337,074,286,889 

482,936,901,926 

2,820,011,188,815 

45,423,226,277 

1,677,913,307,020 

1,723,336,533,297 

1,763,364,193,459 

267,987,826,226 

2,031,352,019,685 

581,646,831,898 

11,148,731,750,000 

11,730,378,581,898 

3,942,203,683,564 

10,036,011,540,954 

13,978,215,224,518 

864,998,545,251 

9,276,305,515,703 

10,141,304,060,954 

3,473,212,207,546 

9,073,296,572,049 

12,546,508,779,595 

There are no other limitations to the free disposal of assets or equity nor other restrictions on property 
rights.

c.14 Distribution of performing loans and financial liabilities according to their maturity dates

Below are the placements and deposits as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, classified according to remaining 
maturity. 

Balances include interest accrued, forward contracts/repo and loans before allowances.
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Liquidity risk management: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that a bank may encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations related to financial 
commitments that are settled with a delivery of cash or other financial asset. The Bank`s Board of Directors 
and Management control its liquidity mainly by matching the maturities of its assets and liabilities, pursuant 
to the short, medium and long term strategies in place and monitored (Treasured, ALM and Market Risk ) on 
ongoing basis, for both assets and liabilities.

Additionally, the Bank has defined contingency plans for situations requiring temporary liquidity. The 
liquidity position is monitored and the liquidity stress tests are conducted on a regular basis in a variety of 
different scenarios that cover both normal market conditions and more severe ones. All liquidity policies 
and procedures are subject to the review and approval of the Assets and liabilities Committee and Board of 
Directors.

c. 15 Concentration of the loans and deposits portfolio

c.15.1 Concentration of the portfolio by number of customers

The concentration of portfolio held by the Bank as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, with 
the financial sector (SF) and nonfinancial (SNF), is exposed both in its portfolio of performing loans and 
nonperforming loans as on its obligations intermediation financial.

a) Loans portfolio

Performing
PYG (*)

Performing
PYG (*)

Nonperforming
PYG (*)

Nonperforming
PYG (*)% %% %Number of customers

Amount and percentage 
of the Financial Sector loan portfolio

Amount and percentage of 
 the Nonfinancial Sector loan portfolio

 440,149,527,536 

 141,497,304,362 

 -   

 -   

 581,646,831,898 

 529,530,300,888 

 248,893,459,471 

 86,574,784,892 

 -   

 864,998,545,251 

  925,482,119,330 

 2,403,465,114,116 

 1,923,727,374,511 

 5,896,057,142,043 

 11,148,731,750,000 

 761,154,673,538 

 1,904,207,337,380 

 1,480,182,340,697 

 5,130,761,164,088 

 9,276,305,515,703 

 1,672,119,884 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 1,672,119,884 

 2,552,519,002 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 2,552,519,002 

 119,630,742,840 

 83,981,402,617 

 42,892,184,080 

 23,156,546,208 

 269,660,875,745 

 93,812,714,176 

 61,117,759,245 

 31,043,079,370 

 23,953,391,878 

 209,926,944,669 

76%

24%

0%

0%

100%

61%

29%

10%

0%

100%

8%

22%

17%

53%

100% 

8%

21%

16%

55%

100% 

100%

0%

0%

0%

100% 

100%

0%

0%

0%

100% 

44%

31%

16%

9%

100% 

45%

29%

15%

11%

100% 

 As of December 31, 2015  

 10 largest borrowers 

 50 next largest borrowers 

 100 next largest borrowers 

 Other largest borrowers  

 Total 

 As of December 31, 2014  

 10 largest borrowers 

 50 next largest borrowers 

 100 next largest borrowers 

 Other largest borrowers 

 Total 

(*) Include accrued interest, unrealized valuation earnings and forward contracts/repo, before allowances.

b) Deposit portfolio

Financial Sector
PYG (*)

Non-Financial 
Sector PYG (*)

Government 
Sector PYG (*)% % %

Number of customers
Amount and porcentage of the Nonfinancial Sector loan portfolio

  265,783,295,502 

 165,362,265,198 

 16,958,088.792 

 - 

448,103,649,492

332,672,874,282 

 206,544,336,040 

 46,884,326,914 

 1,455,332,412 

587,556,869,648

 743,003,409,401 

 1,270,504,895,906 

 1,018,761,607,701 

 5,313,880,925,958 

8,346,150,838,966

605,840,506,859 

 800,845,233,582 

 785,093,404,805 

 5,324,448,663,476 

7,516,227,808,722

 1,391,066,870,883 

 26,398,549,518 

 - 

 - 

1,417,465,420,401

1,195,439,736,684 

 38,999,096,551 

 870,254,202 

 - 

1,235,309,087,437

59%

37%

4%

0%

100%

57%

35%

8%

0%

100%

9%

15%

12%

64%

100%

8%

11%

10%

71%

100%

98%

2%

0%

0%

100%

97%

3%

0%

0%

100%

As of December 31, 2015

10 largest depositors

50 next largest depositors 

100 next largest depositors 

Others depositors 

Total 

As of December 31, 2014

10 largest depositors

50 next largest depositors 

100 next largest depositors 

Others depositors 

Total 

(*) Include amounts of current account and time deposits, without accrued interests at the end of the year.
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c.15.2 Concentration by geographic area and currency

a) Loans portfolio

% %Loans to  Financial Sector 
PYG (*)

Loans to Nonfinancial 
Sector PYG (*)

Item

 

581,646,831,898 

 -   

 581,646,831,898 

 (902,883,770)

580,743,948,128

 287,865,023,978 

 293,781,807,920 

 581,646,831,898 

 (902,883,770)

580,743,948,128

 864,998,545,251 

 -   

864,998,545,251

 (663,257,870)

864,335,287,381

 539,422,810,129 

 325,575,735,122 

864,998,545,251

 (663,257,870)

864,335,287,381

 

 11,148,731,750,000 

 -   

 11,148,731,750,000 

 (180,192,370,436)

10,968,539,379,564

 3,600,859,516,108 

 7,547,872,233,892 

 11,148,731,750,000 

 (180,192,370,436)

10,968,539,379,564

 9,276,305,515,703 

 -   

9,276,305,515,703

 (82,322,978,224)

9,193,982,537,479

 3,233,772,755,238 

 6,042,532,760,465 

9,276,305,515,703

 (82,322,978,224)

9,193,982,537,479

 

100%

0%

100%

49%

51%

100%

100%

0%

100%

62%

38%

100%

 

100%

0%

100%

32%

68%

100%

100%

0%

100%

35%

65%

100%

As of December 31, 2015

Residents in Paraguay

Nonresidents in Paraguay

Sub-Total

Allowances

Total

In local currency

In foreign currency

Sub-Total

Allowances

Total

As of December 31, 2014

Residents in Paraguay

Nonresidents in Paraguay

Sub-Total

Allowances

Total

In local currency

In foreign currency

Sub-Total

Allowances

Total

(*) Include accrued interest, unrealized valuation earnings and forward contracts/repo, before allowances.

b) Deposits and mortgages portfolio

% %Financial Sector 
PYG

Nonfinancial Sector  
PYGItem

936,944,067,430

2,906,232,393,069

 3,843,176,460,499 

 99,027,223,065 

 3,942,203,683,564 

478,711,819,864

3,364,464,640,635

 3,843,176,460,499 

 99,027,223,065 

 3,942,203,683,564 

 962,623,757,464 

 2,352,602,051,695 

 3,315,225,809,159 

 157,986,398,387 

 3,473,212,207,546 

 533,579,743,908 

 2,781,646,065,251 

 3,315,225,809,159 

 157,986,398,387 

 3,473,212,207,546

 

 9,771,506,470,219

 116,138,200,000 

 9,887,644,670,219 

 148,366,870,735 

 10,036,011,540,954 

3,861,643,728,230

6,026,000,941,989

 9,887,644,670,219 

 148,366,870,735 

 10,036,011,540,954 

 8,916,042,246,913 

 - 

 8,916,042,246,913 

 157,254,325,136 

 9,073,296,572,049 

 4,170,060,486,475 

 4,745,981,760,438 

 8,916,042,246,913 

 157,254,325,136 

 9,073,296,572,049 

 

24%

76%

100%

12%

88%

100%

29%

71%

100%

16%

84%

100%

 

99%

1%

100%

39%

61%

100%

100%

0%

100%

47%

53%

100%

As of December 31, 2015

Residents in Paraguay

Nonresidents in Paraguay

Sub-Total (*)

Other liabilities (**)

Total

In local currency

In foreign currency

Sub-Total (*)

Other liabilities (**)

Total

As of December 31, 2014

Residents in Paraguay

Nonresidents in Paraguay

Sub-Total (*)

Other liabilities (**)

Total

In local currency

In foreign currency

Sub-Total (*)

Other liabilities (**)

Total

 (*) Include amounts of demand deposits and time deposits without interest accrued to the closing date, 
direct loans from financial institutions, bonds outstanding and deferred documentary credits.

(**) Other liabilities include accrued interest not considered deposits and ATM transactions pending 
transactions to be settled.
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C 15.3 Loan portfolio non-financial sector distributed by economic sector

As of December 31, 2015

Carrying amount 
before allowances  

(b)

Carrying amount 
net of 

 allowances
Allowances

 PYG  PYG % %

Loans to Nonfinancial sector (*)
As of December 31, 2014Economic sector

Item

 4,631,966,475,482 

 789,248,881,706 

 1,191,268,621,178 

 1,305,331,504,545 

 935,540,298,030 

 994,744,637,649 

 420,759,333,907 

 662,496,217,256 

 158,245,877,909 

 10,481,969,028 

 48,647,933,310 

 11,148,731,750,000 

 

69,959,568,762 

 191,036,378,547 

 3,663,307,044 

 264,659,254,353 

37,880,423,100 

 37,880,423,100 

 

 69,959,568,762 

 190,857,434,849 

 3,663,307,044 

 264,480,310,655 

 37,880,423,100 

 37,880,423,100 

 - 

 (178,943,698)

 - 

 (178,943,698)

 - 

  3,725,172,348,806 

 727,835,225,327 

 998,749,794,855 

 1,260,665,915,100 

 744,322,132,146 

 835,846,330,088 

 351,138,685,544 

 407,760,823,256 

 144,023,809,129 

 6,589,111,402 

 74,201,340,050 

 9,276,305,515,703 

42% 

7% 

11% 

12% 

8% 

9% 

4% 

6% 

1% 

0% 

0% 

100% 

40% 

8% 

11% 

14% 

8% 

9% 

4% 

4% 

2% 

0% 

1% 

100% 

Agriculture

Livestock activities

Industry

Retail trade

Wholesale business

Services

Consumer

Exports

Consumption - housing

Government sector

Others

Total

Assets

Deposits in Financial Entities

Performing loans (a)

Credit-related contingencies

Total

Liabilities

Deposits

Total

c.16 Credits and contingencies involving related parties

The balances with related parties each year end are as follows:

As of December 31, 2015

(*) Includes interest income, unrealized valuations earnings and forward contracts/repo, before allowances.

(a) The performing credits do not include accrued interest.
(b) Law 861/96 establishes limits for lending to related parties, which may not exceed an amount equivalent 
to 20% of the effective equity of the Bank.

c.17 Other liabilities

This account as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 

December 31, 2015  
PYG

December 31, 2014 
PYGItem

 11,487,015,226 

 682,943,205 

 105,967,042 

 852,249,056 

 2,109,790,769 

 26,583,502,254 

 1,881,153,450 

 43,702,621,002 

 11,940,471,375 

 501,678,605 

 90,952,285 

 1,075,426,685 

 7,188,436,039 

 37,546,161,590 

 2,494,868,702 

 60,837,995,281 

Taxes payable

Social security payables

Dividends payable

Financial lease payables

Accounts payable

Cashier’s check issued

Other liabilities

Total

c.18 Transactions to be settled

This chapter records the balances of the following transactions:

a) Forward Operations

Contracts are compulsory exchange of currencies in the future at a rate previously agreed between the 
parties (“Forwards” coin) that are initially recognized at fair value conclusion. Thereafter, any change 
in that amount is credited to income, valuing at nominal value converted at spot prices start; and all 
contracts denominated in foreign currency are updated at the spot rate on each closing date of the financial 
statements.

b) Repo operations

A repo operation occurs when the Bank acquires or transfers securities in exchange for the delivery of an 
amount of cash, assuming in the act and time commitment to transfer or acquire back the property of such 

Carrying amount 
before allowances  

(b)

Carrying amount 
net of 

 allowances
AllowancesItem

 181.981.630.481 

 4.282.792.955 

 186.264.423.436 

 40.009.674.119 

 40.009.674.119 

 181.981.630.481 

 4.282.792.955 

 186.264.423.436 

 40.009.674.119 

 40.009.674.119 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

Performing loans (a)

Credit-related contingencies

Total 

Liabilities

Deposits

Total

As of December 31, 2014
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Financial Sector

Forward Operations

No Financial Sector

Repo Operations

Forward Operations

December 31, 2015. PYG 

December 31, 2015. PYG 

December 31, 2015. PYG 

December 31, 2014. PYG 

December 31, 2014. PYG 

December 31, 2014. PYG 

Forward sales of foreign currency - Financial Sector:

Forward purchases of securities sold - Non-financial Sector:

Forward sales of foreign currency - Non-financial sector:

 -   

 -   

December 31, 2015. PYG 

 -   

 (5)

 -   

 (5)

 39,650,418,934 

 (39,650,418,934)

 9,808,616,420 

 (10,323,557,948)

December 31, 2015. PYG 

 2,613,109,500 

 (2,585,250,000)

 52,072,144,854 

 (52,559,226,882)

 69,627,500,000 

 (68,509,200,000)

December 31, 2014. PYG 

 17,832,378,258 

 (18,463,915,207)

 87,459,878,258 

 (86,973,115,207)

 47,588,889,573 

 (47,588,889,573)

  27,501,000,000 

 (28,260,765,223)

December 31, 2014. PYG 

-   

 -   

 75,089,889,573 

 (75,849,654,796)

 Receivables from sales transactions forward foreign currency

 Creditors for operations through forward foreign currency

 Forward purchases of foreign currency - Financial Sector:

 Debtors for purchase transactions forward foreign currency

 Payable for purchase transactions forward foreign currency

Total Forward contracts - Assets

Total Forward contracts - Liabilities

 Debtors for future purchase transactions of sold securities (repo)

 Creditors for future purchase transactions of sold securities (repo)

 Receivables from sales transactions forward foreign currency

 Creditors for operations through forward foreign currency

Forward purchases of foreign currency - Non-financial sector:

 Debtors for purchase transactions forward foreign currency

 Payable for purchase transactions forward foreign currency

 Total Forward contracts - Assets

 Total Forward contracts - Liabilities

securities to its “counterpart” values of the same species and Features the same day or at a later date at a 
specified price.

Under regulations of the Central Bank of Paraguay repo transactions are recorded as part of “Transactions to 
be settled” in the areas Appropriations current financial brokerage and financial intermediation obligations.

Number of shares  Par value Total valueType of shares %

Simple “Group A”

Simple “Group B”

Total

300,000

200,000

500,000

100,000

100,000

100,000

30,000,000,000

20,000,000,000

50,000,000,000

60

40

c.19 Relevant information for the year

a) Issuance of shares

On April 25, 2014, the Ordinary Shareholders Assembly authorized the Board to issue Ordinary Simple A and 
B Shares, with the right to one vote per share with the following values:

The Board of Directors decided, according to meeting minute N° 4/2014 dated April 25, 2014 the timing 
and conditions for the issuance of shares, with a deadline for integrating on October 30, 2014 to those 
shareholders who have opted for preemptive rights. In the context of this issuance, the shareholders 
of the Bank have integrated shares, amount to PYG 19.670.400.000, with an issuance premium of PYG 
22.620.960.000. They also decided, according to meeting minute N° 3/2015 dated March 20, 2015, to proceed 
to the issuance of shares of the mentioned issuance premium.

As the deadline for existing shareholders exercising their right of first refusal expired, issuance of such 
shares was channeled through public offering on the stock exchange through prospectus of shares 
submitted to the National Securities Commission of Paraguay on December 11, 2014. In this regard, the Bank 
received as of December 31, 2014 as irrevocable contributions of future shareholders the amount of PYG 
14.300.000.000, of which were capitalized at December 31, 2015, the amount of PYG 13.405.700.000 and still 
pending capitalization the amount of PYG 894.300.000. These contributions were negotiated with an issuance 
premium of PYG 16.445.000.000, that are registered in the “Not capitalized contributions” account of equity.

b) Matters related to debtor Azucarera Iturbe S.A.

Background:

The debtor Azucarera Iturbe SA reported in late December 2013 that it had taken procedures for Call of 
Creditors. 

From that moment, at the request of national authorities (Ministry of Industry and Trade mainly), several 
meetings among all creditors of Azucarera Iturbe S.A. were performed, intending to establish legal and 
administrative conditions that would allow normal operation of the sugar plant and thus manage a scheme of 
repayment to creditors of the company within a reasonable time. In several of these meetings also Managers 
and Directors of the Bank and representatives of Azucarera Iturbe S.A. participated.

As result of these meetings, in late March 2014, representatives of Azucarera Iturbe S.A. signed an 
engagement letter with the consent of the participating creditors at meetings, by which they agreed to 
establish the conditions for restoring the operation of the plant, and before April 30, 2014 to make the 
payment of the debts to employees and workers, sugarcane growers, shippers and other suppliers of 
main services to the production system of the plant. Subsequently, provided at the request of the Ministry 
of Industry and Trade, the deadline was extended again until late May / 2014, but the representatives of 
Azucarera Iturbe S.A. did not comply with the commitment of payment to the above mentioned obligations, 
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this being a fundamental and unavoidable condition to develop a plan to re-start the sugar plant. Given 
these situations and the lack of concrete evidence of any intent to revive the plant by the representatives of 
Azucarera Iturbe S.A., Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. took the decision to start the liquidation of guarantees. In 
this regard, at the end of June 2014, the Bank took possession of 6,919 tons of sugar by means of execution 
of warrants guarantee (organic sugar) for a net value of USD 600 / tonne, totaling USD 4,151,400, and that 
amount was partially applied as repayment of the debts of Azucarera Iturbe S.A. with the Bank. In parallel, 
the Bank, together with the other trust creditors, also instructed the trustee (Banco Familiar S.A.E.C.A.) to 
start the liquidation of the trust by following the procedures established in the respective trust agreement.

Current situation:

On April 10, 2015, Banco Familiar S.A.E.C.A. in its capacity as Trustee proposed to the courts of Asunción, 
a trial against Azucarera Iturbe S.A., demanding the eviction and restoration of buildings and industrial 
facilities that integrate the autonomous patrimony of the trust. The referred process is in progress. 

Additionally, according to what is established in the respective Trust Agreement, the Trustee proceeded to the 
“Call to Private Bid Pricing Contest for the sale of movable and immovable property of Azucarera Iturbe S.A.”; 
that process was disrupted because of an “Amparo” action performed by Azucarera Iturbe S.A.

This Amparo action ended with the sentence according to S.D. N° 51 dated on September 4, 2015, by the 
Court of Guarantees N° 6 of this capital, which decided to admit the amparo brought on behalf of Azucarera 
Iturbe S.A., and consequently nullifying the call to private competition prices.

The Trustee, through its legal representatives filed an appeal against the referred S.D. N° 51, issued by the 
Trial Judge, Lawyer Lici Ma. Teresa Sánchez S.

The Court of Appeal reversed the decision of the Court of First Instance, also stating that each party should 
pay the costs to their lawyers. After this procedure, Azucarera Iturbe S.A. appealed against the Resolution to 
the Supreme Court.

On the other hand, Banco Familiar S.A.E.C.A., on its capacity as trustee of the Trust Azucarera Iturbe, started 
an Eviction lawsuit on the judge of the First turn of the Civil and Commercial Court.This lawsuit was intended 
to make Azucarera Iturbe to take possession of the Industrial Plant to the Trust Bank. It was rejected by the 
Court of First Instance, and the resolution was appealed. The file is currently based in the Court of Appeal in 
Civil and Commercial Matters.

Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. has the privilege of collection on the proceeds of the sale of the trust property, 
once canceled the cost and expenses of the trust for redemption / cancellation of loans granted by the Banco 
Regional S.A.E.C.A. The balance will be applied to repay loans from other creditors secured by the pension 
trust. The purpose of the liquidation of the trust is to preserve the integrity by leading other pledgees willing 
to provide its guarantees for a complete sale of the plant for its revival in the shortest possible time with 
new investors. According to the valuation carried out in December 2013 the value of the pension trust is PYG 
194.612 million.

As of December 31, 2015, the credit balance with Azucarera Iturbe S.A. after the liquidation of warrants 
guarantees (about organic sugar) received amounts to PYG 55.371 million, of which PYG 30.000 million are 
supported by the Autonomous Trust Estate, while the rest are unsecured loans.

Also, following the guidelines established in Resolution 1, Act No. 60, the Board of the Central Bank of 
Paraguay on September 28, 2007, andamendments, the Bank registered in year 2015 specific allowances 
to cover possible losses for approximately PYG 8.551 million. Additionally, there were at beginning of year 
allowances set in the years 2014 and 2013 for approximately PYG 17.812 million and PYG 13.528 million, 
respectively, totaling an allowance for doubtful at December 31, 2015 of PYG 39.891 million, approximately.

While there is a risk associated with the slow pace of the legal liquidation process, the specific situation of 
Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. is sufficiently supported by the size of their assets, liquidity preference payment in 
settlement and allowances set. This implies that the effect on the results of the case is mainly limited to the 
net profit for the years 2015 and 2014, and therefore its impact is limited and isolated, the rest of the portfolio 
and asset has a normal evolution. The statement of income at December 31, 2015 compared with the year 
ended December 31, 2014 should be considered in this context.

D. Equity

d.1. Effective Equity

The effective equity is used for determining limits and operational restrictions established by the 
Superintendence of Banks of the Central Bank of Paraguay, for financial entities operating in Paraguay.

The Bank’s shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, totaled PYG 1.216.216.000.000 and PYG 
1.113.966.000.000, respectively.

According to the Resolution of the Board of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 44 dated July 
21, 2011, as amended by Resolution No. 3, Act No. 4 dated February 2, 2012, the minimum percentage of 
effective equity should keep financial institutions of the country is a) Tier 1 - Main Capital 8%, b) Tier 2 - Main 
Capital plus supplementary capital of l2%.
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

11.00%

13.19%

12.82%

13.69%

Tier 1 - Principal Capital

Tier  2 – Principal Capital + Supplementary Capital

d.2 Minimum capital

The minimum capital adjusted for inflation in 2015, according to Central Bank of Paraguay provisions on 
this matter, is mandatory for banks operating in the Paraguayan financial system to hold as paid in capital 
at least an amount of PYG 43,296 million as of December 31, 2015, (PYG 39.711 million as of December 31, 
2014). The potential capital deficit of a bank with regard to the minimum capital required annually to financial 
institutions must be covered prior to the end of the first six months of each year.

As of December 31, 2015, and 2014, the Bank had a paid in capital in common and preferred shares of PYG 
784.946.400.000 and PYG 687.455.800.000, respectively, which exceeded the minimum amount required by 
Central Bank of Paraguay regulations as of those dates.

d.3. Prior year adjustments

The Plan and Manual states that BCP accounts settings prior year’s results are recorded in the income 
statement for the year without affecting the equity accounts of the Bank. At December 31, 2015, the net 
adjustment is an expense of PYG. 410.274.552 included in the chapter “Prior year adjustments” (loss PYG. 
1.198.965.152 at December 31, 2014). 

E. Concerning the contingencies and memorandum accounts

The balance of contingency accounts as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 corresponds to credit lines granted 
to debtors for credit card transactions, loans granted in current accounts, and other agreed pending 
utilization lines. These lines as a whole do not exceed 10% of total assets.

The Bank has recorded in contingency accounts the following balances related to commitments or 
responsibilities:

a) Contingency accounts

December 31, 2015  
PYG

December 31, 2014  
PYG

Items

251,625,073,334

93,741,887,387

298,239,194,286

292,700,540,559

-

936,306,695,566

218,243,997,599

103,190,097,228

384,090,685,716

222,107,516,141

2

927,632,296,686

Guarantees provided

Documentary letters of credit to be negotiated

Credit to be used in current accounts

Credit to be used through credit cards

Other

Total

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank maintained this relationship:

December 31, 2015  
PYG

December 31, 2014  
PYGItem

12,491,342,528,948

832,317,995,928

66,368,863,453

827,239,260,273

 14,217,268,648,602 

10,674,260,380,224

5,369,763,934,362

80,067,343,389

651,984,200,070

 16,776,075,858,045 

Guarantees received

Administration of securities and deposits

Business abroad and collections

Other memorandum accounts

Total

b) Memorandum accounts

The accounts are comprised as follows:

F. Information regarding income (loss)

f.1 Recognition of income and loss

The Bank applied the accrual method in recognizing income and allocating expenses and costs incurred, with 
the following exceptions referred to the fact that income is recognized as profit upon collection, as set forth 
by Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60 issued by the Central Bank of Paraguay on September 28, 2007, and its 
subsequent amendments and additions:

a) Interest accrued and not collected from borrowers with nonperforming loans and unrealized valuation 
earnings;

b) Financial products accrued and not collected related to borrowers and credits classified in categories 2 
(not by subjective criteria), 3, 4, 5 and 6.The same are recognized as profit upon collection.

c) Unrealized valuation earnings of borrowers with nonperforming loans, which are classified in categories 2 
(not by subjective criteria), 3, 4, 5 and 6.  The same are recognized as profit upon collection.

d) Income to be realized through the sale of assets in installments, which are recognized as revenue as the 
loans are collected;

e) Unrealized valuation of earnings of the above mentioned transactions.

f) Certain fees for bank services.

f.2 Foreign exchange difference

Foreign exchange differences related to assets and liabilities in foreign currency are shown as net amounts 
in the “Valuation of assets and liabilities in foreign currency” line of the statement of income, and their 
breakdown is as follows:
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014Item

Income from valuation of financial assets 
and liabilities in foreign currency

Loss from valuation of financial assets 
and liabilities in foreign currency

Net foreign exchange differences on financial 
assets and liabilities in foreign currency

Income from valuation of other assets 
and liabilities in foreign currency

Loss from valuation of other assets 
and liabilities in foreign currency

Net foreign exchange differences on other 
assets and liabilities in foreign currency

Net foreign exchange differences on total 
assets and liabilities in foreign currency

 7,155,436,897,318 

 (7,157,844,936,545)

 (2,408,039,227)

 25,975,939,282 

 (40,409,267,946)

 (14,433,328,664)

 (16,841,367,891)

 4,731,725,642,409 

 (4,733,808,565,277)

 (2,082,922,868)

 53,331,746,018 

 (54,931,025,757)

 (1,599,279,739)

 (3,682,202,607)

As described in point (c) of note f.1 above, the foreign exchange differences related to loans in foreign 
currency that are nonperforming and/or performing and classified in categories “3”, “4”, “5” and “6”, are 
recognized as income as they are collected.

The net foreign exchange differences from foreign exchange and arbitrage transactions are disclosed in 
the lines of the statement of income called “Other operating income - Gains for exchange and arbitrage 
operations”. 

f.3 Contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund (FGD)

Under the provisions of Law No. 2334 dated December 12, 2003, financial institutions provide mandatory 
funds to the FGD administered by the Central Bank of Paraguay an amount equivalent to the 0.12% of the 
average quarterly balances of its portfolio of deposits domestic and foreign, on a quarterly basis.

The amount contributed by the company to FGD for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 amounted 
to PYG 48,186,020,911 and PYG 45,097,242,098, respectively. The amounts contributed by the Bank to the 
DGF, are not recoverable and are included in the line “General Expenses” of the chapter “Other operating 
expenses” of the Statement of Income.

f.4 Income tax

Income tax which is charged to the results for the year at a rate of 10% is based on book income before tax, 
adjusted by the items that the law and its regulations include or exclude for the determination of net taxable 
income.

The income tax charger to results of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, amounts to total 
PYG 18,421,622,748 and PYG 8,786,082,611, respectively. This amount does not include the accrual of the 
additional 5 % rate related to the distribution of earnings mentioned in note c.12.g), as the Bank books this 
additional income tax charge in the year in which the Shareholders’ Meeting decides the distribution. The 
charge is recorded in the chapter “Other operating expenses” of the Statement of Income.

f.5 Effects of Inflation

No adjustment for inflation procedures have been applied, except as mentioned in note c.9.

G. Events subsequent to year-end

There are no other events that took place after December 31, 2015, that involved significant changes in equity 
and income ended on that date.

Encarnación, February 26, 2016

Francisco Furman S.
General Accountant

 Eugenio Oze de Morvil
General Manager 

Roland Wolff 
Syndic

Raúl Vera Bogado
President
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5.4.1 Trustee’s Opinion

5.4 OPINIONS AND RISK RATING 5.4.2 Independient Auditor`s Report
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5.4.3 Risk Rating

International Agencies

Local Agencies

Standard & Poors
Rating Type

Foreign Currency LT

Local Currency LT

BB-

BB-

Stable

Stable

Rating CreditWatch / Outlook

Moody’s

Feller Rate
Solvencia Tendencia

Foreign Currency LT

Local Currency LT

AApy Stable

Ba2/Not Prime 

Ba1/Not Prime

Stable

Stable

Rating Type Rating CreditWatch / Outlook






